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PROCEETDTINGS

(Transcript follows in sequence from Volume

12.)

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: All right. If we can go
ahead and take our seats and we can get started
where we left off all right. All right. If we can
go ahead and grab our seats, we can pick up where
we left off.

All right. So, of course, the witness 1is
still in the witness stand, transitioning from OPC
to FEL. FEL, you are recognized for questions.

Oh, I am sorry, were you not done?

MR. PONCE: Yeah, I was done with that subject
area.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Oh, my fault. I apologize.
I thought it was very perfect timing.

So, OPC, you are recognized to continue
questioning.

MR. PONCE: I apologize myself.

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: All good.

Whereupon,

TIFFANY C. COHEN
was recalled as a witness, having been previously duly
sworn to speak the truth, the whole truth, and nothing

but the truth, was examined and testified as follows:
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EXAMINATION continued
BY MR. PONCE:

Q Your testimony -- actually, excuse me, let me
ask this: When it comes to the CIAC tariff, that's not
intended to cover FPL's -- any cost that FPL has for
incremental generation?

A No, 1it's transmission and distribution only,
which 1is per Commission rule.

o] That's Rule 25-6.0647

A I don't know the number.

Q Okay. But when it comes to recovering those
incremental generation costs, those would be the
proposed by LLCS tariffs, right?

A Yes, to the extent that the customer qualifies
under the LLCS tariffs.

Q Well, speaking of that, the thresholds for the
LLCS at the time of your direct were 25 megawatts or
more at a load factor of 85 percent or more?

A Yes.

Q Okay. When it comes to that load factor of 85
percent or more, if you could give a brief explanation
of what is meant by that?

A It's meant for a customer who has a load

factor of 85 percent or more. Load factor is your
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1 average usage compared to your peak usage. It's more in
2 Witness Jarro's land, but it was intended, a customer

3 who i1s running at 85 percent load factor is essentially
4 running 20 hours a day.

5 They don't look like any other customer on our
6 system today. So we have no customers, in fact, that

7 are over 50 megawatts and 85 percent load factor today.
8 So the intent was to capture that type of customer in

9 this new tariff in the new rate class.

10 Q And these apply to any commercial or

11 industrial customer that meets these thresholds?

12 A Yes, with incremental load.

13 Q Is it fair so say that the objective of these
14 tariffs is to protect the general body of ratepayers

15 from incremental generation costs that, but for these
16 customers, FPL would not have otherwise incurred?

17 A Yes, and it's intended to protect our general
18 body of customers from all costs, right. The tariff

19 that we are proposing has a 20-year contract tied to it
20 with exit notice, and so it's intended to protect
21 customers from a very large customer taking service
22 under our system, having to build generation, and also
23 if they were to leave before the end of their 20-year
24 term, there are strict, very strict terms in the tariff

25 that would protect our general body of customers.
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Q So when we are talking about the incremental
generation charge, do any of FPL's currently existing
tariffs have that kind of charge?

A No, they do not.

Q It's proposed as part of the LLCS tariffs
because of the significant cost of these customers’'
incremental generation, right?

A Yeah, so since 2023, we have had over 50
customers come to us asking for service pulling about 21
gigawatts of energy. That's about 75 percent of our
system today. So we are going to have to build
incremental generation to serve new load. And so the
intent is that if a very large customer, the generation
would not be built but for that customer load, so we are
proposing that 100 percent of the incremental generation
charge be recovered from the customer.

Q So in other words, these customers'
incremental generation would not otherwise be needed to
serve FPL's general body of customers, right?

A Not at the size that we are looking at from
the -- the customers that are asking for service today
are in the hundreds of megawatts. As I just mentioned,
we have had 21 gigawatts of interest, and so at that
level, we have to build new generation to serve the

customer.
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1 Q And it wouldn't be necessary to meet FPL's
2 reserve margin, right?

3 A I don't speak to reserve margin in my

4 testimony.

5 Q But -- well, let me rephrase. Absent these
6 tariffs, these customers would otherwise take service

7 under either a GSLD-3 or GSLDT-3, right?

8 A Generally, yes, those are our transmission
9 level rate schedules. So 1f a customer, a large
10 customer that wants transmission level service, those

11 would be the applicable rate schedules for them to take
12 service under today.

13 Q And as you said, unlike the LLCS tariffs,

14 GSLD-3 and GSLDT-3 don't have a charge for incremental
15 generation, right?

16 A They do not.

17 Q So in other words, if a customer were to take
18 service under GSLD-3 or GSLDT-3, the cost of their

19 incremental generation would fall on FPL's general body
20 of ratepayers?

21 A Yes.

22 Q Okay. Now, initially when it comes to LLCS-1,
23 the charges associated with this tariff were calculated
24 along the idea of a three-gigawatt cap, right?

25 A It was intended to -- so yes and no. What we

premier-reporting.com
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1 did was we looked at where on our system could we serve
2 large load customers. And we identified three areas, or
3 about three gigawatts that we could reasonably serve

4 customers with very little incremental transmission cost
5 to connect the customer to our grid. And that's how the
6 three gigawatt cap came about.

7 But i1if you want to locate outside of those

8 areas, we have LLCS-2 tariff. You can locate obviously
9 wherever you want in our territory, it's just a matter
10 of how we serve you and the cost that it costs to serve
11 -— or to connect you from a transmission perspective.

12 Q You mentioned LLCS-2. The incremental

13 generation charge for this particular tariff was going
14 to be determined by a formula, right?

15 A It will, and it's conceptually the same as how
16 we determined LLCS-1. It's just we don't know where you
17 are going to locate in the territory, and so we have to
18 figure out how and when we can serve you, and that's the
19 formula that we are asking for. But it's essentially --
20 it's the same theoretical calculation as LLCS-1.
21 Q When it came to the three-gigawatt for LLCS-1,
22 that was going to be taken up on a first come, first
23 serve basis?
24 A Yes. To the extent we can serve a customer on

25 the load ramp that they are requesting, the customers
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who can -- we have to jointly agree on the customer's
load ramp. It has to be both FPL can reasonably and
reliably serve the customer, and we have to build
incremental generation, and we want to ensure we are
matching the customer's load ramp, so we are building
generation in tandem with a customer's projected load
ramp.

Q These customers will, nonetheless, have to
have their own backup generation, right?

A I can't speak to what the customers will do.

Q Give me one moment.

Along with the LLCS tariff, there was also a
service agreement, right?

A Yes. The service agreement defines the,
essentially the Ts and Cs, the terms and conditions that
a customer would take service under.

Q This included a, at least at the time of your
direct, a 20-year minimum term?

A Yes.

Q As part of that service agreement, weren't
customers responsible for the upfront cost of, I believe
it was 20 years of incremental generation charge-?

A So as part of the service agreement, the
initial -- it's a tariff, I believe, but regardless, the

collateral that was 1nitially requested in our as-filed
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1 case was 100 percent of the incremental generation

2 charge, which could be in the billions of dollars for a
3 customer with 100 megawatts, or couple hundred

4 megawatts.

5 In some of the intervenors' filed testimony

6 saying it was commercially infeasible. And so as part

7 of our rebuttal, we changed the collateral requirement,
8 or requested to change the collateral requirement and

9 say —-- we said that something less than that could also
10 be commercially reasonable.

11 Q As of this time, FPL is not expecting any LLCS
12 customers to take service until, at the earliest, 20287
13 A That's correct.

14 Q This is despite -- I think you mentioned you
15 had 50 some conversations with potential LLCS customers?
16 A We have had about 50 inquiries from customers
17 requesting 21 gigawatts of load. We have two

18 engineering studies, which is the precursor to -- a

19 customer comes to us in order to connect that size of

20 customer, we have to do an engineering study to look at
21 how their load impacts our system. What do we need from
22 our side and their side. And so we have seven

23 engineering studies in progress, two complete. But

24 looking at the load ramps and what customers are

25 requesting, we are not expecting anyone to be in-service
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before 2028.

Q And of the two that are complete, are you able
to tell us how much time they have left to accept those
engineering studies or not?

A I need to look at my attorney.

MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: The studies are
confidential, themselves. I don't know that she
would know. I believe Mr. Jarro spoke about the
timing on acceptance of those, but, yeah, as far as
specific on those, and how long they have to
accept, that would be confidential, she would not
able to disclose those.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Thank you. Fair response
to the guestion?

BY MR. PONCE:

Q Let me try asking this, then: So we went --
you went from 2023 -- since 2023, 50 inquiries to nine
of those 50 inquiries, those resulted in nine
engineering study requests total®?

A Yes.

Q So it's fair to say that FPL does not have a
specific number of customers it's anticipating will take
up service under LLCS?

A No, we don't. We could have zero. We get

calls every day from customers. It doesn't always
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1 result in an engineering study. It doesn't always —-- no
2 customers have accepted engineering studies at this

3 point in time, so it's fluid right now.

4 Q It's true that FPL won't agree to an

5 in-service date from an LLCS customer unless and until

6 there is sufficient generation capacity to provide their
7 service?

8 A Yes. We have to ensure we have got the

9 generation and can safely serve our existing general

10 body of customers and a new customer. So part of the

11 negotiation in signing the agreement, is that FPL and

12 the customer will mutually agree upon their load ramp.
13 Q And when it came time for the test years in

14 this case, FPL didn't take into account any revenues

15 associated with LLCS customers?

16 A In 2026 and 2027 test years, no, because I

17 have no customers in those years.

18 Q This is basically a related question, so I
19 will just go for it -- dive into it.
20 This is the reason, or the a least part of the

21 reason why FPL didn't do a cost of service for these

22 customers, right?

23 A We did not do a cost of service study because
24 the projected test years were 2026 and 2027, so I have

25 zero costs, zero revenues. I have nothing to show in a
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1 cost of service study.

2 We did say in our testimony that, to the

3 extent we have customers taking service under LLCS, that
4 would be —-- that would go through the normal course of

5 business and a normal cost of service study in our next
6 rate case, which would be 2029 if the four-year rate

7 plan is approved.

8 Q Well, speaking of that, in FPL's next rate

9 case, FPL anticipates that it's going to be making

10 changes to these tariffs, right-?

11 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Objection. We are

12 getting beyond what we are here for in this case.
13 She certainly spoke that whatever changes will be
14 made the next rate case, but I don't think we can
15 sit here and speculate what we are going to do in
lo the next rate case.

17 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Sustained.

18 BY MR. PONCE:

19 Q Let me ask you -- now, let's go into your
20 rebuttal testimony.

21 Per your rebuttal testimony, the three

22 gigawatt cap was recalculated to one gigawatt, right?
23 A I am going to say that a little differently
24 it's still a three gigawatt tariff. The incremental

25 generation price that was 1initially proposed in direct
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1 was based on building enough generation to serve three

2 gigawatts.

3 As we sit here today, and we have got seven

4 engineering studies still in progress looking at

5 customers' load ramps, and talking with customers and

6 what it takes on their end, permitting and even building
7 the facilities in order to accept transmission level

8 service, we don't think it's going to be as fast as we

9 had initially proposed in our filing. So we

10 recalculated the incremental generation charge to assume
11 that we would have no more than one gigawatt on our

12 system by 2029.

13 So all that does is change the incremental

14 generation charge that the customer pays. Had we kept
15 it at three gigawatts, and I am only serving one

16 gigawatt hypothetically, I would be overcharging those

17 customers.
18 What we did say is, regardless of how much we
19 have -- how much load we have on our system, right,

20 there 1s costs, obviously, in order to serve those

21 customers, but they would all flow through the next cost
22 of service study in the next rate case, and their

23 incremental generation charge would be reset based on

24 whatever it is that we build to serve the load in that

25 rate class.
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1 0 If we can go to E, as in Eric, 61707. You

2 cosponsored this response, right?

3 A I am sorry, 1t's not on my screen yet.

4 Q You cosponsored this response, right?

5 A It's not on my screen yet. One second.

6 Q Oh, sorry. Sorry.

7 A Yes.

8 Q It says here that FPL anticipates a load ramp

9 of one gigawatt by 20287

10 A Yes. That's what it says.

11 Q FPL doesn't anticipate being able to serve
12 more than that in 2028, right?

13 A We don't anticipate that.

14 Q Well, regardless of the changes to the LLCS-1
15 charges, the intention is still to recoup the full

16 incremental generation amount, right?

17 A The intent is to recover whatever it is we
18 build in incremental generation from the new LLCS rate
19 class customers, whatever that is.
20 Q From your direct to your rebuttal testimony,
21 the eligibility threshold also changed from 25 to 50
22 megawatts, right?
23 A Yes, it did.
24 Q Won't this have the effect of the tariff

25 applying to fewer customers?
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1 A Potentially, but as I look at who is

2 requesting service from today, I don't think we have

3 anyone who is looking at less than 100 megawatts.

4 If you look around the country, there are

5 really no tariffs that are -- there are very few, if

6 any, that are 25 or 50 megawatts. Most of them are

7 100 megawatts and above.

8 Q I am sure there may not be any right now, but
9 it's possible that FPL could vet get a 49.9-megawatt

10 customer, right?

11 A It's possible. We have a handful of customers
12 on our system today that are over 25 megawatts, and only
13 one that's over 50, so it's possible. I don't think

14 it's likely.

15 Q Also, as you mention in your direct, these

lo tariffs had a take-or-pay requirement of 90 percent,

17 right?

18 A Yes. So they initial -- we initially proposed
19 a 90-percent take-or-pay in the as-filed case. That is
20 essentially to recover slice of system costs. So think
21 about -- we are going to build generation for a new

22 customer. They are going to recover -- we are going to

23 charge 100 percent of that to the customer, but they are
24 still taking service on our system. They are still

25 using our grid. And so to the extent they leave, they
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are required to pay 90 percent of whatever they
contracted on their load ramp.

In rebuttal, and intervenors also filed and
said 90 zero percent was too strict. There were no
other tariffs in the country that were that strict.
Most of them are in the 70 to 80 percent range. And so
in rebuttal, we proposed that changing it to 70 percent
would be entirely reasonable.

And you have to think about that in
conjunction with all of the protections around the
tariff. They are still paying 100 percent of their
incremental generation charge. It's a 20-year contract,
a two-year exit notice, significant collateral
requirements. We are making sure that we are matching
the customer's lcad ramps, so all of that needs to be
taken together as a whole, but we did -- it 1is a
90-percent take-or-pay as-filed.

Q And then just to be clear, from your rebuttal
-— or in between your direct and rebuttal, this was

changed to 70 percent?

A Yes.
Q If we could look at E61712?
This notes the costs to -- this notes the
costs to different kinds of customers -- excuse me -- so

this chart here represents the demand charges to
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1 customers based on different circumstances, right?

2 A It does.

3 Q And that was at the original 90 percent?
4 A Yes.

5 Q So, for example, for somebody with 250

6 megawatts, without the minimum bill, their demand charge
7 would have only been about 1.7 million?
8 A Yes, under this scenario. It's also important
9 to note that they are paying 100 percent of their
10 incremental generation charge. So under all three --
11 all three columns here, they are still paying $14
12 million, which is the vast majority of their base
13 charge.
14 Q That's fair enough for incremental generation,
15 but I am talking about the demand charges here.
lo Subject to check, if you look at that same
17 amount, if you look under the 70-percent demand
18 charge -- excuse me, I am talking here about for
19 250-megawatt with the demand -- with the minimum bill.
20 With the 90-percent, that's the 3.1 million, right?
21 A Can you repeat your question, please?
22 Q Sure. Let me try to make that a little
23 clearer.
24 And when you look at the customer, the

25 250 megawatts and the 90-percent demand charge, it comes
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out to 3.1 million, right?
A Yes.
Q Now, if that demand charge was actually

70 percent, subject to check, wouldn't it be about 2.4

million?
A I don't have that math in front of me.
Q An again, subject to check, that mean about a

$700,000 difference?

A Again, I don't have the math in front of me.

Q Okay. Isn't it fair to say that this change
increases the level of risk to the general body of
ratepayers in the circumstances where somebody's load
does not material materialize?

A Mathematically, it's a lower demand charge,
but I think we have -- as I Jjust explained, we have to
take the tariff as whole. They are still paying 100
percent of their incremental generation charge. They
are still subjected to two-year exit notices. They are
still subject to very strict collateral requirements.

So holistically, it's still very protective, and in my
opinion, it's the most protective tariff of general body
for large load customers in the United States.

Q So that's an increase of exposure to customers
when it comes to the demand charge of 20 percent?

A Can you repeat your gquestion?
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1 Q Sure.
2 By lowering the demand charge from 90 to 70
3 percent, that's an increase of potential exposure to

4 FPL's general customers by 20 percent?

5 A I don't know that I would characterize it that
6 way. I don't think you can say it's a change of --
L increases their exposure by 20 percent. I don't agree

8 with your characterization.

9 Q Isn't it true that in developing the LLCS

10 schedules, FPL reviewed AEP Ohio's proposed schedules in
11 Case No. 24-5087?

12 A We did look at AEP Ohio's tariffs.

13 Q Didn't they end up with a minimum demand

14 charge of 85 percent?

15 A Subject to check, potentially. But Ohio is
lo also deregulated, and they don't have to pay any

17 incremental generation charge in that state, which is a
18 very, very important feature in our tariff.

19 Q We talked about the collateral requirements.
20 These were also changed from your direct to your
21 rebuttal, right?
22 A That's correct.
23 Q And in your rebuttal, they are now based on a
24 customer's credit worthiness?

25 A Yes.
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Q And again, isn't this also a decrease in the
amount of protections afforded to FPL's general body of
ratepayers?

A Mathematically, but the credit worthiness is
important, and the amount of collateral a customer puts
forth will be determined by their credit worthiness.

Q You mentioned that at least some of these
changes were as a result of discussions with other
intervenors?

A It was as a result of other intervenor
testimony in the case.

Q Is it fair to say, then, since these changes
were as a result of intervenor testimony, that these
changes were made to make the tariffs more appealing to
these intervenors?

A The intervenor parties noted that the initial
collateral requirements were too strict and commercially
infeasible. As I mentioned earlier, it could be in the
billions of dollars for a couple hundred megawatts of
load.

We did look around the United States and look
at what over customers, what other utilities are doing,
and so in rebuttal, we did say that it would be
commercially reasonable to have a different threshold.

There is a lot of different ways that you can look at
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collateral.

It's important to remember as well, that
collateral is really just there in case the customer
can't perform. They are still tried to a 20-year
contract. The collateral is meant to be a backstop if
the customer exit and then cannot pay 100 percent of
their incremental generation charge in their two-year
exit notice.

Q If we can go to F, as in frank, 2-3404, again,
that was F2-3404? Feel free to read this if you need
to.

A Okay.

Q Now, you mentioned specifically when it comes
to a demand charge, that the change was made considering
the concerns raised by FEIA witnesses, right?

A Yes.

Q Let me ask this, then: Did FPL make these
changes to balance protecting customers while also
enticing large load customers to come to FPL's
territory?

A Yes and no. We definitely would want a
commercially viable tariff, and at the same time, we
need to absolutely ensure we are protecting our general
body of customers, and that's why it's important to look

at the tariff provisions as a whole.
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1 Q So you would agree, then, that it is not a

2 utility's function to attract business development?

3 A I don't think it's our function, but it is --

4 economic development is important to our state. It's

5 important to FPL. To the extent that we have more load

6 on our system, it's a good thing for all customers. It

7 gives you a bigger base of megawatt hours to spread your
8 costs over. I think economic development is important

9 in general.

10 Q But does FPL know what impact large load

11 customers will have on FPL's grid in 20287

12 A I don't think I can answer any questions about

13 our grid in 2028.

14 Q How about revenues, then?
15 A No. We have no contracts as I sit here today.
16 Q It's fair to say that -- well, you mentioned

17 that it's theoretically possible that by 2028, FPL would
18 still have no large load customers, right?

19 A Yes, 1it's possible.

20 Q Even those who have taken the step of asking
21 for and paying for an engineering study may not accept
22 those results, right?

23 A Correct.

24 Q I am just making sure if I have any questions

25 I can cross off here.
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It's fair to say that none of the -- well,
when I say the magnificent seven tech companies, do you
know who I am referring to-?

A I am sorry, can you repeat your gquestion?
Q Sure.

When I say the magnificent seven tech

companies, do you know who I am referring to?
A No.
Q These would be Alphabet, Amazon, Apple, Meta,

Microsoft, Broadcom, are you familijar with these

companies?
A Yes, I have heard of them.
Q They are the ones -- and Nvidia, they are the

ones driving most data center growth, right?

A I don't necessarily agree with that.

Q Okay. And so given that FPL doesn't expect
any customers until 2028, and it's not even clear if FPL
will have any customers by 2028, doesn't that give us
sufficient time for the Commission to have a workshop on
these large load customer issues?

A No, I disagree. I believe we need a tariff
now in order to, one, incentivize economic development
in our state.

Customers of the size that we are now talking

to that are asking for service 1in our territory, they
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will need to spend a significant amount of money to
build their facilities to take service. No one is
moving to Florida without knowing the terms and
conditions or rates that they are going to take service
under.

And if they were to move here today, they
would take service under GSLD-3, which is our largest
rate schedule today. They are not paying incremental
generation on that rate schedule. And so unless we put
something in place today, where customers can see a
vision into what their terms and condition and rates
are, and also balance that with ensuring we have enough
protections for our general body of customers, there is
no way to protect our customers from large load
customers.

Our tariff was filed in February of this vyear.
We have had plenty of time to look at it. I can look
across the United States, and I have done a lot of this
research over the last few years, our tariff is by far
the most protective of our general body.

Q Well, we have gone from 50 inquiries in 2023,
to now, as we sit here this in October, only two
engineering studies completed. I mean, it doesn't seem
like there really is a whole lot of interest, right?

A I just mentioned we had 50 gigawatts, or 50
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1 inquiries. Our economic development team fields calls
2 from customers every single day looking to locate in

3 Florida tomorrow, in 2030, right. It's significant

4 interest that we are seeing, and so I believe that we

5 need to put forth the right protections for our general

6 body today, and ensure that they are protected from

7 customers that want to locate in our territory.

8 An engineering study, it's a six-month process
9 to complete the study. Customers have six months to

10 accept. These are extremely large load. They could be

11 spending billions of dollars of their own to build

12 facilities. 1It's not a small decision.
13 As I sit here today, we don't have a tariff
14 that -- companies know that we are in for a rate case.

15 They know that we have put forth a large load tariff.

lo So until we have something approved, they are not going
17 to be willing to locate in Florida until they know the
18 terms and conditions that they take service under. So
19 it's important to put something in place today that we
20 can have that visibility, but also protect our general
21 body by things such as customers paying 100 percent of
22 their incremental generation costs.

23 Q These customers have to have site control over
24 their property, right?

25 A Yes.
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1 Q If we could go to E90563. And things may have
2 evolved since this discovery was issued, but at least at
3 the time this was issued, of the seven projects, FPL is

4 only aware of two that actually control their property,

5 right?
6 A That is what this says.
7 Q Again, doesn't this demonstrate how

8 speculative this all is?

9 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Asked and answered.
10 She gave a pretty robust answer.

11 MR. PONCE: Well, I am asking based on this
12 discovery that we have just asked about here.

13 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: I will allow the question.
14 THE WITNESS: I don't think it's speculative
15 for all the reasons I just stated, and why we need
lo to have a tariff in place today to protect our

17 general body of customers.

18 BY MR. PONCE:

19 Q If there was sufficient existing generation on
20 FPL's grid, there wouldn't be any need for an

21 incremental generation charge, right-?

22 A Potentially. To the extent we have existing
23 capacity, and you can use that with customers that want
24 to take service, that's a good thing for everyone. It's

25 a good thing for your general body as well, because it
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1 puts downward pressure on rates if you have enough
2 capacity to spread more fixed costs over.
3 Q One moment, please. That will be it for me.

4 Thank you very much, Ms. Cohen.

5 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Thank you, OPC.

6 Let's go to FEL. You are recognized.

7 MR. MARSHALL: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
8 EXAMINATION

9 BY MR. MARSHALL:

10 Q I am going to do some jumping around to try

11 not to retread ground, but we will pick up on the LLCS
12 tariffs to start with.

13 You were already asked about if there were any
14 current customers on FPL's system with over 25 megawatts
15 and 85 percent load factor, and I believe the answer was
16 no, but I want to ask, in the original threshold that

17 there are no current customers on FPL's system that

18 would have over 25 megawatts and an 85 percent load

19 factor, is that right?
20 A There are no customers over 25 megawatts and
21 85 percent load factor today.
22 Q And FPL has not done any kind of analysis to
23 show that 50 megawatts is the right number as opposed to
24 25 megawatts as initially proposed?

25 A Not analysis, per se. I believe we have
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1 stated that we did consider multiple thresholds. We

2 worked with our power delivery folks as well, and there
3 is a number of right answers. You can look around the

4 United States and see tariffs really vary from 50 here,
5 and over 100 in other places. So it's very disparate.

6 It really depends on the utility and regulatory

7 environment as well.

8 Q If you could get the red binder, the one with
9 the tabs out, and we will be going through a few

10 documents in here. If we could go to FEL-279C, which is
11 Exhibit 1153 on the CEL?

12 A I am sorry, can you repeat that, Bradley, CEL?
13 Q Yeah, CEL 1153, but going to be under tab

14 FEL-279C.

15 A Okay.

16 Q Now, although this is a confidential document.
17 The nature of what this document is not confidential,

18 correct?

19 A I agree.

20 Q And so this is a memorandum of understanding
21 with potential LLCS applicants?

22 A It is.

23 Q And if you go to appendix D, as in delta, this
24 contains essentially proposed LLCS tariffs?

25 A You said Appendix D?
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3 credit.

9 sure

10 doesn't sound like it.
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22 BY MR. MARSHALL:

23

24 proposed LLCS tariffs match what was originally filed in

25 February in your direct testimony, is that right?

Q Starting at Appendix D.

A E, mine says irrevocable standby letter of

Q What does yours say, I am sorry?

A Appendix E, right?

Q D as in delta.

A Okay. D says, notices.

Q Do you have a Bates stamp? I want to make

we are looking at the same thing, because it

A Bates stamp 057892.
Q Okay. I think that might be --

MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Chairman, if I can
help, I believe there is an earlier appendix D in
that packet.

MR. MARSHALL: Yes. I was just figuring that
out too. Yes, there is multiple appendix Ds. This
is going to be an earlier appendix D in that
document, starting at Bates sample 057863. Thank
you, Mr. Wright.

THE WITNESS: Okay.

Q And my question is, is that this -- these

Premier Reporting
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1 A I would assume so. I am not positive

2 100 percent that it's word-for-word what was as-filed.
3 Q But generally, it's got the same sort of

4 charges -- charge amounts in it, like, in terms of the

5 incremental generation charge, et cetera-?

6 A It's the same type of charges, vyes.

7 Q Can if we could go next to CEL tab 387A%

8 A You said 387A7

9 Q Yes. And this will be CEL tab, so it's go to

10 be earlier.

11 A Okay.
12 Q And this is part of CEL Exhibit 387.
13 I believe you already discussed earlier that

14 there were two completed engineering studies that would
15 be in regards to the LLCS -- or customers that would

16 take service under the LICS tariffs?

17 A Yes.

18 Q And this would be an excerpt of one of them?
19 A That's what it appears to be. My team does

20 not perform engineering studies. I have not seen them.
21 Q If we go to -- if we just flip that first page
22 over, there is a table at the top there regarding -- and

23 that table, itself, is not confidential, correct?
24 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Chairman, I am —-- we

25 are under an NDA on all this. I know that this is
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1 a confidential document. She is not the

2 appropriate witness. I don't know if she is can

3 even speak to whether she is able to disclose that
4 or not. This is more Mr. Jarro's area. So my

5 preference would be that we do not vocalize any of
6 the material contained on this confidential

7 document.

8 MR. MAY: Mr. Chairman, these two documents,
9 these two engineering studies are highly

10 confidential. They were executed by our clients,
11 and we are under NDA too, so I support Mr. Wright's
12 request to keep these documents strictly

13 confidential.

14 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Okay.

15 MR. MARSHALL: I am having a slight issue with
16 this, Mr. Chairman, because we had this discussion
17 during the depositions, and it was all kept

18 nonconfidential and agreed upon that these tables
19 were not confidential, and those depositions are
20 still not designated confidential and include
21 information in these tables, and so I am —--
22 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: With that concern, FPL?
23 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: I don't know that.
24 That was not Ms. Cohen's deposition. I did not
25 defend that deposition. If you would like me to
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1 check, I can certainly check, or if we can try not
2 to verbalize it, that would be, you know,

3 efficient.

4 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Can we --

5 MR. MARSHALL: There is some important

6 information here that we would like in the public
7 record that we do believe is not confidential. If
8 we could check on that, I would --

9 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Yeah, can we check and can
10 you point, because it was it in a different

11 deposition?

12 MR. MARSHALL: No, it was in Ms. Cohen's

13 deposition.

14 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. So ——

15 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Okay. Can you give
16 me a moment, please?

17 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Sure.

18 MR. MARSHALL: We could come back to this

19 after lunch, if that makes things easier from a
20 time saving perspective.
21 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: That's fine.
22 CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: I think that's fair to,
23 yeah, to all parties.
24 Mr. Marshall, but just out of curiosity,
25 anything else in here -- well, we will clarify that
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at lunch.

MR. MARSHALL: We would be discussing the
document right after that, but we will do that the
same time we come back to that after lunch. I
think we can put this aside, at least for now.

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Okay.

MR. MAY: And, Mr. Chairman, just to follow
up, we don't want to prolong this, maybe at a break
we can talk with Mr. Marshall and agree on some
ground rules there.

MR. MARSHALL: Yeah, absolutely. I think --

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Perfect, I appreciate it.

MR. MARSHALL: =-- sort it out on the lunch
break.

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Great. Thank vyou.

BY MR. MARSHALL:

Q Ms. Cohen, I had one follow-up question
regarding the take-or-pay discussion that you had with
Mr. Ponce.

You would agree that the 90-percent
take-or-pay threshold as originally proposed was a
reasonable proposal?

A We believed it was reasonable. That's why we
put it forth, and there were intervenor testimony as

well saying 1t was not reasonable.
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Q You would agree that for some large load
customers, speed to be able to serve them could be more
important than the bottom line price per kilowatt hour?

A I believe that is the sentiment in general
throughout the United States right now.

Q I am going to turn to the incremental
generation charge topic next. Incremental generation
charge pace for batteries to serve the LLCS-1 customers,
is that right?

A It does, and I believe Witness Whitley
testified that that was the most cost-effective, or most
reasonable resource we could add to our system to add to

serve three gigawatts of load.

Q And those would be charged from the grid-?
A Yes.
Q And the grid and the current resources on the

grid have been paid for by FPL's current customers?

A Yes.

Q If we could next go to master page E58826:
Which is part of Exhibit 356 on the CEL. Let me know

when you have that open.

A It's open.

Q Okay. This is one of your workpapers?

A Yes.

Q And this provides the support for calculating
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the incremental generation charge as calculated in your
original testimony in February?

A Yes.

Q If we go to the tab summary, this calculation
has 1,000 megawatts of load in year one, is that right?

A Yes.

Q And the incremental generation charge is
calculated based on adding 1,300 megawatts of batteries
to support that load?

A Yes.

Q And year two has 2,000 cumulative megawatts of
load with a corresponding 3,700 megawatts of battery?

A Yes.

Q And then just year three has that 3,000
cumulative megawatts of load with 6,100 megawatts of
batteries to support that?

A Yes.

Q And would you agree that under how the
incremental generation charge was calculated here, FPL
is consistently bringing more megawatts of battery onto
the grid than the load-?

A Yes. And that's probably a better question
for Witness Whitley.

Q If we could go to master E825367? Also going

to be part of -- and let me know when you have that
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document up.

A It's open.

Q And probably go to the tab summary would be
most helpful. This is, again, one of your workpapers-?

A Yes.

Q And this workpaper supports the calculation of
the incremental generation charge as contained in your
rebuttal testimony?

A Yes.

Q If we go to year one for the calculation of
the incremental generation charge, it assumes an
incremental 500 megawatts of load?

A Yes.

Q And under this calculation, there is zero
megawatts of incremental batteries being brought on-line
in that year to support that load?

A Correct.

Q In year two, it assumes another incremental
500 megawatts of load?

A Yes.

Q And so it would be a cumulative load by the
end of year two of 1,000 megawatts?

A Yes.

Q And then in year two, it also brings on 1,000

megawatts of batteries to support that load, is that
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1 right?
2 A In year two? Yes.
3 Q And so that would be a ratio in year two of

4 one megawatt of load to one megawatt of battery?
5 A Mathematically. Again, that's probably

6 Witness Whitley.

7 Q And then year three would be 2030, is that
8 right?

9 A Yes.

10 o] And that would be assumed to be in the next

11 rate case?

12 A Correct.
13 Q And then -- and that's -- it would be subject
14 -- there could be a reset of how the incremental

15 generation charge is calculated at that time?

16 A That's correct. The intent is that we would
17 -— in 2029, we would he file cost of service with

18 whatever costs on our system at that point in time, just
19 like we would for any other customer.

20 Q If you scroll down under 2029 to the

21 incremental generation charge dollars per kilowatt month

22 in column H, row 42, that -- do you see that $12.18?
23 A Yes.
24 Q And that would be the same $12.18 supported by

25 your rebuttal testimony as the incremental generation
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1 charge for LLCS-17

2 A Subject to check.

3 Q And that is projected to double between 2029

4 and 20337

5 A It is expected to increase as more load is

6 added to the system that needs to be paid for by this

7 subset of customers.

8 Q And so it would be -- I mean, as it's

9 currently projected here, it would be expected to double
10 between 2029 and 20332

11 A That is the math on this. I have to say, this
12 is a point in time. So whatever load is added to the

13 system, whatever resources are added to the system would
14 be reset in 2029 and every other future rate case as

15 well. This i1s a projection as of a point in time.

16 Q And based on this projection, if FPL were,

17 instead, to do a levelized charge, it would actually be
18 higher $18.67 per kilowatt month?

19 A It was levelized, it would be a higher charge.
20 It would be 18.67.
21 Q And the ITCs, you know, the calculation itself
22 is confidential, but how they are treated, normalized
23 versus flow-through, is not confidential, correct?
24 A I agree.

25 Q And so the ITCs for this calculation here are
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1 normalized, is that right-?

2 A They are normalized. The intent was that it

3 lowers the overall incremental generation charge in each
4 of the 20 years for the customer. So if a customer were
5 to terminate in year 10 or 11, you —-- they -- if someone
6 were to come in and take their capacity, they would also
7 have access to the same incremental -- to the same ITC

8 as the first customer.

9 Q FPL owns land at all of the LLCS-1 sites, is
10 that right?

11 A Yes, I believe so.

12 Q And any solar plants at those sites would be
13 system assets?

14 A Any solar? I think that's probably a better
15 question for Witness Oliver.

16 Q Well, let me ask it this way: The incremental
17 generation charge does not contemplate paying for the

18 cost of any solar assets, correct?

19 A It does not. However, we do say whatever we
20 build, and it may not be batteries in a few years, but
21 whatever we build it serve this group of customers would
22 be charged to that customer group.

23 Q All right. Going back to the big red binder.
24 If we could go to what is marked tab FEL-344C? This is

25 Exhibit 1218 on the CEL.
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1 A FEL-344C?
2 Q Yes. In fact, actually, I think we have a
3 extra -- a separate copy of that specific document for

4 you so that the pages are a little bit bigger. It's

5 going to be Bates stamp page 041592. And I apologize, I
6 am looking at this now, and we should probably resolve

7 the confidentiality of some of this over the break, so I
8 am going to come back to that.

9 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. No problem.

10 BY MR. MARSHALL:

11 Q All right. I am sorry, we will come back to
12 that later. I apologize.

13 If we could go to master number E82554? If we
14 could go to tab monthly bill amount.

15 This table shows a comparison of the GSLD-3,
16 the LLCS-1 as-filed and then the LLCS-1 rebuttal rates,

17 is that right?

18 A Hold on. I am not there yet.

19 Q I apologize.

20 A Sorry. Am I supposed to work the tabs?

21 Q Yes. I think you should have a mouse to be

22 able to click on the tabs.
23 A It's not going to monthly bill amount tab. I
24 am on the 2028 clause tab, but I can't change it.

25 MR. SCHULTZ: Let me just take control for
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just one second and close.

THE WITNESS: Thank you. I am there.
BY MR. MARSHALL:

Q And does this show a comparison of the GSLD-3,
the LLCS-1 original as-filed rates and the LLCS-2
rebuttal, basically, like, possible bill differences --
the differences between those three rates?

A Yes, that's what it shows.

Q And these would be the as-filed GSLD-3
proposed rates?

A Yes.

Q Comparing the difference between the LLCS-1
as-filed and LLCS-1 rebuttal, would you agree that it's
the incremental generation charge between the two on
line 23, would be the biggest different difference?

A It is the biggest difference. As I mentioned
earlier, we changed the sizing of the pricing to one
gigawatt, as that's all that we were expecting to
reasonably serve under this four-year plan.

Q And so that -- the result of that change
lowers the dollar amount per megawatt hour, is that
right?

A It does. The incremental generation charge is
a very large piece of the overall cost a customer pays.

And in rebuttal, we said if we only get one gigawatt of
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load, and we are charging a three gigawatt price to
those customers, they would be paying overpaying for
their incremental generation charge.

Q And subject to check, you would accept that's
about 15 percent less than the original as proposed
amount on a per megawatt hour basis?

A I don't —— I will accept your math subject to
check.

Q If we could next go to master page F10-38027
Which is going to be part of Exhibit 1015 on the CEL.

A Okay.

Q All right. And am I understanding correctly
that under the LLCS-1 tariff, there is not a specific
load ramp demand and load ramp period being prescribed
by FPL?

A No, we wouldn't -- we would work with customer
by customer basis to ensure that we have got the
resources and can safely and reliably meet their
requested load.

Q And if we could next go to F10-3803? Which is
part of CEL Exhibit 1016.

And so is it the same idea with the parent
company guarantee that we just discussed with the load
ramp period -- load ramp demand and load ramp period?

A The parent guarantee would be subject to
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1 whatever is in the tariff of the service agreement. So
2 as initially filed, it was —-- you could have a parent

3 guarantee for the incremental generation charge.

4 Q That's also going to be subject to negotiation
5 between FPL and the individual LLCS customers?

6 A So as we filed in rebuttal, we said that it

7 could be something less to be determined between FPL and
8 the customer based on the credit worthiness of the

9 customer, and that was in response to our as-filed case,
10 where it could be billions of dollars of collateral for
11 a couple hundred megawatts of load.

12 Q If we could next go to master page E638427

13 Part of CEL 387, and go to the tab resource plans.

14 A I am there.

15 Q Does this show various data center scenarios
16 of various data center loads coming onto FPL's system?
17 A It does, we analyzed a number of scenarios.

18 Q And that includes up to the addition of 3.4

19 gigawatts of new load between 2027 and 2030?

20 A Yes.

21 Q If we could next go to F10-16009? CEL Exhibit
22 11009.

23 This is just a predicate to moving on to the

24 next document that's part of this chain, but FPL was

25 asked to produce if there were any additional workpapers
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related to the production of the revised incremental
revenue requirement model, is that right-?

A Yes.

Q And here, you reference the FPL EDM data
center 2028 to 2033. That would be that Excel doc --

one of those Excel documents we looked at earlier?

A Subject to recheck the name on the Excel file.
I don't know -- I don't remember.
Q If we could next go to master page F10-16010?

This is CEL Exhibit 1110.

A I am there.

Q And this is that additional document that was
attached to the previous response?

A I don't see an Excel file name on here, so I
am not positive, Mr. Marshall.

Q Does it have in the top left-hand corner what
it's responding to?

A Okay. I see it. Yes.

Q Okay. And this shows, right-hand column, of
adding three gigawatts of data center load onto FPL's
system, is that right?

A Yes.

Q And as a result, the reserve margin -- the
summer reserve margin starts to go down in the

right-hand column starting in 20287
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A I see the reserve margin column. Witness
Whitley owns these documents.

Q Fair enough. But comparing the left-hand and
column to the right-hand column, new resources do not
start getting added to the system until 2030 under this
scenario, correct?

A Again, that's -- Witness Whitley would be a
better person to answer that question.

Q Okay. If we could next go to master page
E929447? This is going to be part of CEL Exhibit 445.

During Mr. -- your conversation with Mr.
Ponce, do you recall talking about the inquiries that
FPL has received about, you know, looking for possible
large loads?

A Yes.

Q And if you scroll down a page, this would be
the list of though inquiries?

A That i1s what appears to be.

Q And a some of those inquiries are for over one
gigawatt, is that right?

A Yes.

Q And would you agree that they -- that this
list has various requested start dates?

A Yes.

Q And if you go to the bottom of the -- yes,
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1 right there, does this show that FPL continued to get

2 inquiries in 2025 between the time it filed the original
3 -- your original testimony in this case and then when

4 your rebuttal testimony was filed?

5 A It does. 1It's my understanding, from our

6 economic development team, that they get inquiries every
7 day.

8 Q And that included an inquiry that started that
9 wanted to start in 2028?

10 A In column -- requested start date. Yes.

11 Q And do you see above that inquiry number 63

12 for January 15th, 202572

13 A I am sorry, can you repeat that?

14 Q Do you see in row 63, the inquiry from January
15 15th, 20252

16 A Yes.

17 Q Would they have been given that confidential
18 memorandum of understanding that we were looking at

19 earlijer?
20 A I have no idea. I am not involved in -- I
21 have no direct contact with our customers that are
22 requesting service. It's through our economic
23 development team.
24 Q Thank you, Ms. Cohen, that's all my questions

25 on data center load stuff until we resolve some of those
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CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Mr. Marshall, is it a good
time to transition, or do you have another subject
area?

MR. MARSHALL: We do have other subject areas,
but, yeah, now would be an excellent time for a
break from our perspective.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: All right. Let's go ahead
and do that. Obviously, I would ask the parties if
they can, you know, come together and discuss the
area so we can move smooth after lunch.

Let's go ahead and take a lunch break now.
It's A few minutes after 12:00 noon. So let's
reconvene here at 1:05, so one hour from now, 1:05,
let's reconvene for lunch.

Thank you.

(Lunch recess.)

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: All right. I think we can
go ahead and get started.

Let's talk about, any resolution to some the
concerns at lunch?

MR. MARSHALL: Yes, we did. I think we have a
path forward on what questions we have agreed can
be asked and answered.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. Parties, sound
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right?

MR. MAY: Yes, Mr. Chairman. I think we have
got it sweared away.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. Awesome.

MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Yes.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: So I will just hand it back
over to FEL to continue with questioning.
Obviously, the witness 1is already in the witness
box.

BY MR. MARSHALL:

Q Thank you. We will pick up where we, on the
LLCS, the confidential materials on the questions we
were able to agree to. If you could go first to the --
yes, that binder, and go to CEL 387A and 387B.

A I am there.

Q The question is, is that without saying the
numbers, but for the year 2027, in both engineering

studies, load was requested in 2026, is that right?

A In both tabs A and B?
Q Yes.
A Yes, load was requested in 2027.

Q And FPL is not proposing to meet that load-?
A I think I would say it differently. This is
an engineering study. We have no contracts. So

historically we have only included customers where we
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have a contract in this type of forecast. And so there
is no guarantee that the customer's load is going to
materialize at this amount or year, and there is no
guarantee FPL can serve it either. So it's a part of us
working with the customer to ensure we understand their
load ramp, and that's part of the engineering study.

Q Let me ask it this way: Under what the tables
indicated here, FPL does not propose to meet the
requested load in 2027, is that right?

A No, I don't agree with you. The customer is
requesting load in these years, and that is what FPL is
studying through the engineering process.

Q Well, let me ask it this way: Under the --
what FPL proposes to meet, it's not the same answer for
2027 as the other years, correct?

A When you say, proposing to meet, do you mean
what's in our documents for '28 -- '27, '28 and '29,
what we are proposing?

Q For '28 and '29 for these engineering studies,
it's a different answer from FPL for the load, is that
right?

A It absolutely is a different answer, as it
should be. Just because a customer 1is requesting load
doesn't mean that -- doesn't mean it's going to

materialize. It doesn't mean they are going to accept
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1 the results of this study. It's not a signed contract
2 in any way, shape or form.
3 Q Since we are in this document, if we could go

4 to tab FEL 446, which is Exhibit 1502 on the CEL?

5 A I am at the tab. Is there a page number?
6 Q Oh, first a general question. Would you agree
L that there continues to be LLCS -- that there continues

8 to be interest in taking service understood the LLCS

9 tariff?

10 A Yes.

11 Q If we could go to the last page of that

12 document?

13 A Yes.

14 Q If a potential data center had a load factor
15 of less than 85 percent, then they would not be taking
lo service under the LLCS tariff, is that right?

17 A That's correct. They would move to GSLD-3,
18 which 1is our largest rate schedule today.

19 Q And now if you could go to the other big red
20 binder? This is going to be back to Bates stamp page

21 FPL 0415927

22 A Can you repeat that, Mr. Marshall?

23 Q Yes, FPL 041592,

24 A Okay. I am there.

25 Q Okay. And this was as of April 23rd, 2025,
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this slide? You have to go back, I think, five slides
to get to the date.

A Yes.

Q And at the bottom, there is a total cumulative
load ramp of some of the existing studies in progress?

A Yes, as of this point in time.

Q And as of 2029, it has a number of 1,925 total
megawatts?

A Yes.

Q All right. Thank you, that's all my questions
on the LLCS confidential material.

If we could next go to master page E600677?

A Okay.

Q Would you agree that EDR discounts are to
entice economic activity?

A Yes. The Commission has an economic
development rule that is to encourage economic
development.

Q And those are paid for by the general body of

ratepayer?
A Yes.
Q And the estimated amounts for the test years

are contained on this page?
A Yes.

Q Switching topics back to forecasting. We are
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1 going to try not to retread ground that was earlier, but
2 would you agree generally that if sales come in higher

3 than predicted, there will be higher revenue?

4 A All things being equal, but all things are not
5 equal. If sales are higher, there is also -- and I

6 think we said this earlier, and I know I said it, so I

7 apologize, but we are running our plants more. We have
8 more capital O&M spend that we have to maintain our

9 facilities, so there is a lot of things that go into

10 your question.

11 Q You would agree that there has been a warming
12 trend in recent years-?

13 A I believe we have stated in discovery that the
14 last 10 years are warmer.

15 Q If that trend continues and FPL continues to
lo use a 20-year normalized forecast, doesn't that mean

17 that FPL will continue to forecast sales lower than

18 non-weather normalized actual sales?

19 A No, I don't agree. We don't know what the
20 weather is going to be. I can't predict tomorrow's

21 weather. But if the last 10 years had been warmer, as

22 we said, they are included in the 10 years -- in the 20
23 yvears that we are -- that we use.
24 Q Just to be clear, those 10 years are going to

25 be balanced by the 10 years prior to that, right, so
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1 it's a 20-year forecasting --

5 That would be a demonstrative. If you go to the tab

6 weather.
7 A
8 Q
9 A
10 o)

11 20-year weather normalized forecast?

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22 cooling degree hours for CDH 727

23 A That's what it appears to do. It had
24 reference errors a well.
25 Q And the forecast for 2026 would be based on

A

Q

A

Q

o0 0 ¥

210

Q

Yes.
-- based -- okay.

If we could next go to master page E588777?

Okay.
This is one of your workpapers, correct?
Yes.

And this is utilized in helping to create the

Yes.

Do you see at the top it has CDH?

Yes.

Does that stand for cooling degree hour?
It does.

What's a CDH 72, then?

It's the number of hours above 72 degrees.
And if we go down to column O, row 2687
Okay.

Does that contain the 20-year average of
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1 that 20-year average?

2 A It is.
3 Q Subject to check, would 2018 be the most
4 recent year with less than 1,600 -- with less than an

5 average of 1,689 CDH 727
6 A Can you repeat that, please?
7 Q Subject to check, would 2018 be the most

8 recent year with less than 1,689 CDH 727?

9 A I don't know. I would have to go through
10 this.
11 Q Well, let me ask it this way: How would I --

12 to figure it out for 2023, for example, would I add up

13 the numbers in row -- in column D from 232 to 2437
14 A Yes.
15 Q And that would be true for all the years in

lo the 20-year period?

17 A Yes.

18 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Chairman, I

19 apologize. I don't mean to interrupt here, but we
20 have had -- we have been back here almost 20

21 minutes. We have been asked several questions

22 about what the document says. You know, this is --
23 if we could move this along rather than just have
24 the witness repeat what a document says or doesn't
25 say. Now we are asking her to try to do math here
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1 on the stand. You know, I think we are just not

2 being very efficient.

3 I offered during the break if there is

4 something we could do to mitigate just some of the
5 just foundational questions to Mr. Marshall. We

6 are happy to stipulate to the documents that are

7 sponsored by FPL. They are authentic. The

8 foundation is established. We will put them into

9 the record. No issue there. But we are just

10 spending a lot of time asking about does a document
11 say what 1t says? We are just -- we are not moving
12 very quickly here.

13 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: I understand.

14 MR. MARSHALL: If I may respond?

15 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Sure.

16 MR. MARSHALL: I mean, CDH 72 and these

17 numbers and how they roll up into FPL's forecast do
18 not speak for themselves. This requires witness

19 interpretation as to how the numbers roll together.
20 I mean, I think we are at -- at this point, we
21 have got what we need as to how it works, that you
22 add up the numbers for the year, and that's how you
23 derive these numbers that are being used in FPL's
24 forecast. So I think we are ready to move on from
25 this, but I would argue strongly that a document
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like this, an Excel sheet like this does not speak

for itself and requires witness interpretation.

And that is most of FPL's direct testimony in
this case is, 1s interpreting and helping to
explain the tariffs and the documents. And I
haven't heard Mr. Wright suggest that they withdraw
Ms. Cohen's testimony, which is largely explaining
what's in the tariffs and other documents that
would speak for themselves under FPL's argument.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: I understand. Let's move
on and just, you know, if there is, you know,
opportunity to stipulate to things, let's certainly
try.

BY MR. MARSHALL:

Q You would agree that a shorter period to
forecast sales, say, for example, 10 years, could
capture current patterns better?

A No, I don't. It may capture current patterns.
I don't agree with the word better. It's going to
capture current trends. It could capture anomalies.
Using a more robust dataset is going to capture trends
better.

Q I just want to make sure I understand your
answer correctly. So do you agree that shorter periods

could capture current patterns?
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1 A Shorter periods will capture current patterns.
2 I don't agree that that is a better predicator.

3 Q You don't have evidence that 2026 will be

4 colder than the last few years?

5 A No, I do not.

6 Q And so far, 2025 has also been warmer than the
7 20-year normalized forecast?

8 A It has been slightly -- yes, 1it's been warmer.
9 Again, the 2025 forecast is within one percent of

10 weather normalized forecast.

11 Q All right. If we could next go to master page
12 F10-3780? Scroll down to the bottom table.

13 This table is a comparison of FPL's energy

14 sales forecast versus non-weather normalized actuals, is
15 that right?

16 A Yes.

17 Q And a negative number indicates that the

18 actual non-weather normalized sales were above the

19 forecasted sales, is that right?
20 A It does. I believe I explained that to
21 Mr. Ponce earlier, that it's not the right way to look
22 at 1it.
23 Q All right. If we could next go to master page
24 F10-3801, which is Exhibit 1014 in the CEL? If we could

25 go to the tab CDH. This would, again, be for cooling
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degree hours, is that right-?

A Yes.

Q And there is a computation on the right there
of, for FPLE, would that be for peninsular FPL?

A Yes.

Q And 2005 to 2009, that's going to be in the
20-year period that FPL uses for -- as part of its
weather normalization forecast?

A Yes.

Q And subject to check, would you accept that
the 2019 to 2023 number versus the 2005 to 2009 number
was 16 percent higher?

A I will accept your math subject to check. I
believe we have already established the last 10 years
were warmer.

Q If we could next go to master page E91990? If
you go down to the, yeah, the second table there.

Is this the equivalent of the label we were
looking at earlier for FPL's sales forecast generally,
but this is just residential customers?

A Yes.

Q If FPL forecasted residential sales to be 4.7
percent higher than their current forecast, would that
lower the kilowatt hour rate, all else equal?

A Repeat your qguestion.
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1 0 If FPL forecasted residential sales to be 4.7
2 percent higher than their current forecast, would that
3 lower the kilowatt rate, all else qualify?

4 A What we are looking at here is historicals,

5 but I believe your question is if our forecast were

6 higher, would it lower the residential rate, all else

7 equal? All else equal, yes.

8 Q If we could next go to master page F10-2184?

9 Part of CEL Exhibit 968.

10 Did you sponsor this interrogatory answer?
11 A Yes.
12 Q And is one of the reasons you state for

13 consistently using the 20-year average is to avoid

14 introducing volatility or bias?

15 A That is one reasons. It's also consistently
lo done by FPL, by other utilities throughout the United
17 States. A lot of utilities still use 30 years as well.
18 Q My question is: Is avoiding volatility more

19 important than accuracy?

20 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Objection. There 1is
21 nothing in here that talks about accuracy.

22 MR. MARSHALL: Right. It's not in here, so
23 that's why there is the question.

24 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: I will go to my Advisor on
25 this.
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10 BY MR. MARSHALL:

11

12 accuracy?

13 A Avoiding wvolatility is very important,
14 forecasts are not measured necessarily on accuracy.
15 Volatility in our it forecast -- as I

lo explained earlier, our forecasts are used for all

17 planning purse, not just rate setting. They are also

18 used

19 under-invest and build generation to serve load that's

20 higher or lower in our forecast. That can also lead to

21 bill

22

23 and reliable if they are prepared -- at the time they

24 are prepared you use the best inputs at a point in time.

25 When

Q Is avoiding volatility more important than

MS. HELTON: Mr. Chairman, could we hear the
question one more time?

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Restate the question.

MR. MARSHALL: Yeah, the question was: 1Is
avoiding volatility more important than accuracy?

MS. HELTON: That seems like a fair question
to me, Mr. Chairman.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. Overruled. Go

ahead.

to look at our ten-year site plan. We may over- or

increases or decreases, bill volatility in general.

With respect to accuracy, forecasts are stable

you look at our weather normalized forecast, we are
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within one percent.

As I mentioned earlier, we have 128,000
gigawatt hours on our system, and our forecasts are
showing what we are within one percent variance of that.

Q And just to clarify your answer, that's for
weather normalized, not non-weather normalized actuals
where you are within one percent?

A It is for weather normalized, and that's
because weather normalization appropriately accounts for
variances in your actuals. Your weather will always be
hotter or colder than what you forecasted. It will
always -- there will always be a variance.

Q Do you find that if you used a ten-year
weather normalized instead of 20 years, that that would
result in a forecast of additional sales of an

additional 1.38 million megawatt hours in 20267

A I don't know the numbers.
Q Let's go to master page E92786.
Did you sponsor the result -- the answer to

this interrogatory?

A Yes.

Q And this indicates that if ten-year
normalization was used instead of 20 years, that this
would be the resulting increase in energy sales?

A That would be the change in the math, vyes.
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And I just explained what also happens when the math
changes.

Q If we could next go to master number
F10-16014, which is Exhibit 1111 on the CEL?

As a predicate question, FPL was asked whether
there were particular documents to support its 20-year
normal weatherization approach?

A Yes.

Q And they did attach an additional document in
response to this request, is that right?

A Yes, 1t appears so.

Q If we could next go to master page F10-16015.

MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Chairman, I am going

to renew my objection about not being terribly
efficient here. I don't know what the point of
this is. We are Jjust going back and forth between
discovery responses. This says this. This says
this. You agree. If we could move it along and
try to ask the question at issue, we will accept
the foundation.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: I will ask for a response,

and is this a setup of foundation?

MR. MARSHALL: Yes. This 1is setting up a

foundation, and, you know, I think we are getting

to that question here, i1s that that -- that --
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1 well, let me ask this.

2 BY MR. MARSHALL:

3 Q What is -- do you see this document?

4 A Yes.

5 Q What is =--

6 MR. MARSHALL: You know, and, again, Mr.

7 Chairman, I am trying to be efficient, but plan, I
8 do know, 1is self-explanatory. I don't think I can
9 just say what plan is in my brief. I think I need
10 the witness to say what that means.

11 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Well, continue then.

12 THE WITNESS: The plan is our estimate for a

13 given year.

14 BY MR. MARSHALL:

15 Q And so would WN, then, be weather normalized?
16 A Yes.
17 Q And so it this would be the difference for

18 2025 between those two?

19 A Yes.

20 o) All right. If we could next go to master page
21 F10-36, which is Exhibit 882 on the CEL?

22 This document shows FPL's winter peaks from

23 2021 through 20257

24 A Yes.

25 Q Would you agree that 2021 and 2024, that those
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peaks would not be based on heating needs?

A Would not be based on what?

Q Heating needs.

A What years? I am sorry, Mr. Marshall.

Q 2021 and 2024.

A Yes.

Q If we could next go to master page E920267

And this contains average minimum winter

temperatures for various decades versus forecast for the

future?
A Yes.
Q And it's forecasted to go down from the

current last decade actual, right?

A Yes.

Q And is that because of the 20-year
normalization effect of using the prior 10 years before
the immediately preceding decade to now?

A It's based on 20 years.

Q Okay. If we could next go to -- switch topics
and go to master page F10-38047? Part of CEL Exhibit
1017.

First a foundational question. What are
LIHEAP customers?
A That would be a better question for Ms.

Nichols, but my understanding is it's customers that
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receive federal funding to pay their electricity bill.

Q And if we could next go to master page
F10-3806, which is Exhibit 1019 on the CEL?

Does this indicate that 12 percent of FPL's
LIHEAP population was impacted by the minim -- current
minimum bill in 20247

A It does, and so that also means in the
inverse, 88 percent of the customers receiving LIHEAP
were not impacted.

One thing that's important to note, though, is
the average bill was $4. So that means that these
customers had enough usage in their base charge as well,
so their bill was roughly $21, so they were charged an
incremental $4 to get to the minimum bill of $25.

Q And if we go to the last page of this
document, I mean, that shows the impact by dollar amount
and month, is that right?

A Yes.

Q And would you expect these numbers to increase
if the minimum bill is increased from $25 to $307?

A I would expect the numbers to decrease. The
number of customers subject to a minimum bill would
decrease as rates are higher.

Q But doesn't the minimum bill also increase

from $25 to $30 under F -- under the proposed tariffs?
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A It does.
Q Shouldn't there be some number of customers,

then, following between that $25 and that under $30

threshold?
A Yes, there could be.
Q If we could next go to master page E5883? I

am sorry. I misspoke. E58883.
This is one of your workpapers?
A Yes.
o] And it's to support the $30 minimum bill?
A It does.
Q If we go to the tab minimum bill. Would you

agree that the largest component of the cost in the

minimum bill are -- is demand-related distribution
costs®?

A Yes, mathematically.

Q And then the other portion of that cost would

be customer related costs?

A Yes.
Q And what are customer related costs?
A Customer related costs are generally billing,

customer service and meeting.
Q And ballpark, that would be about $10 per
month her customer?

A From our customer charge?
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1 0 Yes.

2 A Yes, so these costs would be incremental to
3 that.

4 Q And you don't have income data on your

5 residential customers?

6 A We do not have income data.

7 Q And you do discuss seasonal homeowners in your
8 rebuttal testimony in relation to the minimum bill?

9 A I do. I provide, as an example of a type of

10 customer that would be subject to a minimum bill is a

11 customer with, perhaps, a second home that they are not
12 here for a portion of the year, and, therefore, they

13 would pay a minimum bill. But it's one type of customer
14 that would be subject to a minimum bill. Really, any

15 customer with usage below a certain level is subject to
16 the minimum bill.

17 Q You would expect seasonal homeowners to be

18 residing in FPL's territory generally in the cooler

19 months?
20 A Generally.
21 Q If we could go to master page E82560? And
22 this is one of your workpapers for your rebuttal
23 testimony?
24 A Yes.

25 Q And for 2026, to incur a minimum bill, a
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1 customer would need to use less than 233 kilowatt hours?

2 A Can you point me to the line you are seeing
3 that?
4 Q I am not seeing that in a specific line on

5 this document, if you know.

6 A It's in the ballpark of -- yes.

7 Q And if you go to the raw data tab, this has

8 the number of customers at each kilowatt hour usage for
9 each month in 20247

10 A Yes.

11 Q Would you accept, subject to check, that if

12 you add up all the customers in January who have zero to
13 232 kilowatt hours of usage, it would be 565,153

14 customers?

15 A I will accept your math, subject to check.

16 Q And December, accepting subject to check, that
17 it would be 609,611?

18 A Again, subject to check, I have not done the
19 calculation.
20 o] And then for August, subject to check, it
21 would be 273,888 customers?
22 A Subject to check.
23 Q And so subject to check, assuming that's true,
24 that would mean that more customers would be subject to

25 the minimum bill in the cooler months than the warmer
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months?
A Yes.
Q And you would agree that a seasonal customer

would be more likely to have usage low enough to incur a
minimum bill in the summer months when they are probably
not here?

A Sure. That's fair. Again, I said in my
testimony it's one example. 1It's cooler —-- in cooler
months, I would expect customers to have less usage and,
therefore, more customers could be subject to the
minimum bill in cooler months than warmer months. That
is -- that's logical.

The purpose of the minimum bill is that all

must customers, regardless of their income level,

everyone -- the grid has to be there to serve any
customer at any time when they turn on their lights. So
the intent is that -- I believe we just established

around 233 kilowatt hours give or take, anyone below
that amount should pay a minimum bill. Our customer
charge today 1is $9.61, which is the lowest among all
Florida IOUs. 1It's below the Florida average. It's
below the national average. So another Florida utility
also has a minimum bill as well. The intent is to
ensure that all customers pay their fair share of fixed

costs.
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1 Q And do you know if the increase in the minimum
2 bill from $25 to $30 is expected to increase revenue by
3 over $20.4 million in 20267?

4 A I don't know the math offhand, but what I will
5 say 1s it doesn't increase revenue. Whatever we collect

6 from the minimum bill is then offset by the amount that

7 is collected from the remaining customers in the class.
8 So it's not incremental revenue in any way.
9 Q How about revenue from the minimum bill

10 specifically?

11 A How much did you say?
12 Q 20.4 million.
13 A I will accept it subject to check. I would

14 have to check in my testimony. But, again, it's not

15 incremental revenue.

16 Q Switching topics a bit to cost of service and
17 to rate design. Am I correct that you take the cost of
18 service from Ms. DuBose post and then design the rates?
19 A Yes. So customer service -- I'm sorry, cost
20 of service at current rates is the beginning point.

21 It's a tool or guide and what we use to design rates

22 ultimately.

23 Q And in your rate design process, you apply

24 gradualism?

25 A Yes.
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Q And that includes the idea of helping move
customers closer to parity while ensuring that no class

receives an overly large increase?

A That is the definition of gradualism.

Q And you did that in your rate design in this
case?

A Yes.

Q And parity ensures that a customer class is

paying their cost as defined by the methodology used in
the cost of service?

A Yes.

Q Would another way of saying that would be that
they are paying their fair share of the cost of the
system?

A That is a way to define parity, that customers
pay their costs to serve.

Q If we could go to your Exhibit TCC-5 for 2026
and 2027? Would you agree that -- well, let me -- just
a foundational question.

This would be parity under FPL's as-filed cost

of service study and as-filed proposed rates, is that

right?
A Yes, as compared to current rates.
Q Is and would you agree that this has

residential customers moving closer to parity?
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1 A Yes, they decrease in parity under the

2 proposal as filed.

3 Q But they would still be above parity according
4 to the numbers on here?

5 A Yes.

6 Q You have testimony regarding FPL having one of
7 the lowest bills in the top 20 utilities in the U.S. as
8 part of your testimony, is that right?

9 A Yes.

10 o] And that would be based off of the 1,000

11 kilowatt hours of usage?

12 A It is.

13 Q You would agree that FPL residential customers
14 have an approximate average usage of 1,125 kilowatt

15 hours?

16 A That is average usage. We also have over

17 55 percent of our customers use less than 1,000 kilowatt
18 hours a month. And also during the shoulder months of
19 November to March, our average bill is actually less
20 than 1,000 kilowatt hours.
21 Q In your rebuttal testimony, you lay out for --
22 all your reasons for disagreeing with the significance
23 of the numbers in Mr. Marcelin's testimony, is that
24  right?

25 A Can you point me to where that is?
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2 in your rebuttal testimony, disagree with any of the
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math
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9 terms of FPL's residential bills with Mr. Marcelin's
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Q Well, let me just ask it this way: You don't,

presented in Mr. Marcelin's testimony, correct?

A On what topic?

Q Regarding FPL's bills, residential bills?

A I am not sure I am following. I am sorry.
Q There is nowhere in your rebuttal testimony

you disagree with the numbers, you know, as in

A I would need to see exactly what you are

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Hold on.
MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Mr. Chairman, sorry.

Whether she address it is or not in her rebuttal,

it's in her rebuttal. I don't know what we are
wasting time for. If there is a disagreement with
the numbers that she addresses, it's in there. If

he wants to brief that she doesn't address it, then
he is free to do that based on what's here. I
don't know why we need to hunt around for this.
CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Mr. Marshall?
MR. MARSHALL: I mean, I think it goes to
establishing exactly what the witness disagreed

with from the testimony that we filed in this case
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1 and her rebuttal, and understanding exactly where

2 those lines are. And I can point to the witness to
3 her testimony to address what she did address and

4 did not address.

5 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Let's proceed, but if we

6 can try to maybe pick up the pace a little bit?

7 BY MR. MARSHALL:

8 Q I think this is starting on page 10 of your

9 rebuttal testimony.

10 A Is your question whether I disagree with the
11 math in his testimony?

12 Q Correct.

13 A I don't think I disagree specifically with the
14 math, but I don't know that I recalculated anything that
15 he did.

16 I specifically disagree that he is trying to
17 compare Florida's average bill to other states, such as
18 Wyoming and Colorado, that have a significantly lower

19 amount of electricity used by their customers. It is
20 definitely warm in Florida, and our customers use 90
21 percent of —-- 90 percent of their electricity needs, or
22 their energy needs comes from electricity. The states
23 that he is comparing us to are the lowest states that
24 have a lower average bill. Electricity is roughly

25 20 percent of their energy burden.
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So my point 1is that he is understating the
energy burden of the customers in those states, and he
is overstating the energy burden by customers that live
in Florida.

Q And you would agree that the -- some of the
temperatures in those other territories in the tables
that you include in your rebuttal testimony, that they
tend to be colder than in FPL's service territory?

A They are 43 percent hotter than Florida -- I
am sorry, other way. Florida is 43 percent hotter.

Q If we could next go to your Exhibit TCC-2?
And the two-and-a-half percent compound annual growth
rate of bills is based on the numbers presented in this
graph, is that right?

A Yes.

Q And the current charge -- the current bill
for, on the left-hand side there, does that include
storm charges?

A It does. 1It's shown in the gray right there.

Q And there is an assumption that for the
numbers presented here, for 2026 through 2029, that
there won't be future storm charges?

A That's the assumption as I sit here today. I
don't know of, fortunately —-- hopefully we won't have

any storms, but this was prepared at a polint in time
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with the data that I knew at that point in time. So as
I sit here, we have no other storm charges. It's also
based on an assumption of fuel, which could go up or
down from where we are today. So it's bassed on a point
in time when the best available information I have.

Q And the 2028 and 2029 numbers would be
estimates based on the SoBRAs, is that right?

A It is.

Q In total, does this show that there is an
estimate that residential base rates would increase in

28.7 percent from now to 2029?

A Total bill increase is 2.5 percent?
Q I was talking about the base portion-?
A About the base? I don't have that math in

front of me, but I will accept your math subject to
check.

Q If we go to the next page. This would be for
general service customers, is that right?

A Yes.

Q And it shows a compound annual growth rate of
one percent per year?

A Yes.

Q If we could next go to master page J1112? And
this would be part of MFR E-5, the 2026 test year, is

that right?
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1 A Yes.

2 Q And you would be the witness sponsoring this
3 MFR?

4 A Yes.

5 Q Now, at the top, there is -- in line number

6 six, there is CILC/CDR credit offset, do you see that?

7 A Yes.

8 Q And so what is represented by the numbers on

9 that line?

10 A That's the amount of credits that are paid for
11 today by all customers.

12 Q And they appear as a revenue on this MFR E-5
13 for those classes receiving those credits?

14 A Yes. 1It's part of the revenue responsibility
15 of those classes, and they get credit for their

16 participation in the program.

17 Q And if you go down to row 34, does that show
18 the as-proposed reduction in the CILC/CDR credits?

19 A It does.
20 Q And so if I am looking at the actual increase
21 to the large commercial and industrial classes in retail
22 base revenues as proposed, looking at CILC-1D, for
23 example, it would be 37.408 million, is that right?
24 A You said for CILC-1D?

25 Q Yes.
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A For base revenue, yes.

Q And the total proposed increase is actually
less than that because of the reduction in the CILC/CDR
credits that class is receiving under FPL's proposal?

A Yes.

Q Just a couple more follow-up questions on the
CIAC tariff changes as discussed earlier. You would
agree that the proposed tariff changes shifts the risk

to the cost causer?

A The proposed tariff changes?
0 Yes.
A The change that we are proposing in the sense

that we are asking for a change to the tariff to recover
those costs up front?

Q Yes.

A So, yes, it shifts -- it shifts some of the
risk to the cost causer.

Q And does that try to follow the principle of
cost causation?

A It does. It also ensures that the customer is
the one who ensures that their load materializes on our
system. So it's putting some of the onus on them to
ensure that their load does materialize.

Q And what is the principle of cost causation?

A That a customer should pay, 1in their rates,
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the costs to serve them.

Q And you would agree that that's a principle
that FPL tries to follow?

A It's one of a few principles that we follow,
ves.

MR. MARSHALL: If you will just give me one
second, Mr. Chairman. I think we may be -- that's
all my questions. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Thank you.

FAIR, you are recognhized.

MR. SCHEF WRIGHT: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

EXAMINATION
BY MR. WRIGHT:
Q Good afternoon, Ms. Cohen. How are you doing?
A Good, Mr. Wright.
Q Good. I have a very few questions for you.
You had -- T am not going to belabor this.

You had a conversation with Mr. Ponce about your load
forecasting. My questions are fairly straight -- I
think they are entirely straightforward.
Who does the forecasting for FPL? Is it you?
Is it a team? Is it contractors? All the above? Can
you help me out there?
A It's done on my team.

Q Thank you.
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1 My question for you is: TIs your team's

2 performance evaluated on the basis of the accuracy of

3 your forecasts?

4 A I disagree with the term accuracy of the

5 forecast. As I explained earlier, right, if you are

6 preparing a forecast at a point in time, you are using

7 the best available information. That's it.

8 Q So when -- does anybody at FPL look ex post at
9 whether your forecasts matched actual data as it

10 occurred?

11 A We look at weather normalized sales every

12 month, and our forecast is within one percent of our

13 actuals, weather normalized, they are in one percent of
14 our forecast.

15 Q Is the performance of the forecasting team

16 evaluated at all on the basis of whether the actual

17 forecast numbers are over, under or right on the money
18 with the forecast?

19 A What do you mean by -- what do you -- I am
20 sorry, can you please rephrase your question?
21 Q Sure.
22 My question is: Does anybody at FPL
23 evaluating the forecasts with respect to whether they --
24 the actual values experienced in a given period, whether

25 it's a month or a year, how closely they match to the
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forecast values prepared ex ante?

A I think I just explained. We evaluate the
weather normalized forecast performance every month
compared to our forecast.

Q Well, I think I understood your answer to be
you look at that, and you look at it on a weather
normalized basis. My question is: Is the performance
of the forecasters evaluated on the basis of how closely
the forecasts match the actuals?

A You mean as part of, like, an incentive
mechanism, like incentives?

Q As part --

A I am not following your guestion. I am sorry.

Q Yeah, as part of performance of the person who
is supposed to be doing the forecast. I used to do
forecasts. I got evaluated on the basis of how closely
they matched actuals. That's my question.

A I don't believe it's part of their -- I don't
believe it's part of their annual evaluation.

Q Thank you.

I have a few questions for you relating to the
LLCS tariffs. I just want to understand as completely
as I can the protections that are built in for the
general body of FPL's customers.

Does the take-or-pay provision apply to
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1 100 percent of the incremental generation charges?

2 A So we are conflating two things in that

3 gquestion. The incremental generation is 100 percent

4 changed to the large load customer. The take-or-pay 1is
5 specifically referring to fixed system costs. And that
6 is 70 percent, as proposed in our rebuttal. So they are
7 two different things. One is slice of system cost as a
8 way to look at it, and one is incremental generation.

9 So holistically, that is the charge to the large load
10 customer.

11 Q Well, is the -- do I understand correctly that
12 when a customer comes on, there will be an incremental
13 generation charge applied to their service, correct?

14 A If they meet the requirements of LLCS, yes.
15 Q Sure. And would they -- does FPL expect them
16 to pay the IGC, whatever that is as it changes through
17 the years, for 20 years?

18 A Yes. They will sign a 20-year contract, and
19 the IGC will be set with this commission in each rate
20 case.
21 Q Does the take-or-pay provision apply to the
22 IGC at all?
23 A The IGC is 100 percent.
24 Q Thank you. That got to what I was trying to

25 understand.
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1 With resp -- I have a couple of questions with
2 respect to the guarantee provision, the parent

3 guarantee. And I understand it's five years if the

4 party meets a certain credit worthiness criterion, and

5 10 years if it doesn't, correct?

6 A That's collateral. That's different than the
7 -- did you say performance guarantee?
8 Q No, I said -- actually, I am pretty sure I

9 said the parent guarantee --
10 A Okay. Sorry.
11 Q --— as to the -- which I think is a form of

12 collateral protection, is that accurate?

13 A Yes.
14 Q Thanks.
15 Does -- if it's -- if the customer or its

lo parent has posted a credit security for five years, does
17 that roll forward on a continuing basis through time?

18 A So it does adjust, but as filed in rebuttal,
19 it's based on a customer's credit worthiness. What you
20 are specifically referring to, I believe, was in

21 settlement.

22 Q I understand it's based on the customer's

23 credit worthiness. What I am trying to ask is, if the
24 customers post, say, a security guarantee of whatever

25 form for -- it's required to post that for five years,
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1 correct?

2 A It depends on their credit worthiness, and

3 that's specific to a term in our settlement agreement.

4 Q I am really just trying to ask whether that

5 goes forward. So if we get to year four of the customer

6 service, will the guarantee still be in effect in year

7 nine?

8 A It's a rolling guarantee, if that helps.

9 Q That's what I was trying to ask.

10 Again, focusing on customer protection, what
11 will -- to the extent you know, what will FPL do if an

12 LLCS customer were to terminate service?

13 A So we have a number of customer protections,
14 and protections built into the agreement. If a customer
15 wants to terminate service, they are still responsible
16 for 100 percent of their incremental generation charge.
17 They have to provide a two-year exit notice, during

18 which time they are paying their minimum take-or-pay for
19 the two years under that as well.

20 Q Is their obligation to pay the incremental

21 generation charge, does that continue for 20 years from
22 the date on which they initiated service?

23 A It's a 20-year contract from the date they

24 initiated service, yes.

25 Q If you know, would FPL collect against a
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guarantee if -- as bills come due, or would they go
against the guarantee all at once?

A I don't know.

Q And do you know what FPL would do if the

scenario were to occur, that the guarantee were to be

exhausted?
A I don't know what you mean by that.
Q Well, if the guarantee were not sufficient to

cover the remaining period of time for which they are
obligated to pay the incremental generation charges,
what would FPL do, if you know?

A Well, the guarantee is for 100 percent of the

incremental generation charge as filed in the initial

case.

Q But the guarantee only applies for -- to
either -- in the -- I am sorry. I may have wandered
off.

Is the guarantee filed in the initial case a
guarantee for 20 years?
A Yes.
Q Thank you. That answers my questions.
MR. SCHEF WRIGHT: Thanks, Mr. Chairman.
CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Great. Thank vyou.
FIPUG?

MR. MOYLE: FIPUG has no questions.
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1 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: FRE?

2 MR. BREW: No qguestions.

3 CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: Walmart?

4 MS. EATON: No gquestions.

5 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: FEIA®?

6 MR. MAY: No guestions.

7 CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Staff?

8 MR. STILLER: We have a few, Mr. Chair.

9 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Sure, you are recognized.
10 MR. STILLER: If we could access Case Center
11 echo 920027
12 MR. SCHULTZ: You said 920027
13 MR. STILLER: Yes.

14 EXAMINATION

15 BY MR. STILLER:

16 Q And, good afternoon, Ms. Cohen.
17 A Good afternoon.
18 Q In this FPL response to staff Interrogatory

19 No. 224, is it correct that FPL provided the company's
20 most recent summer and winter actual demand and

21 projected demand for FPLE and Northwest Florida

22 divisions?

23 A Yes, that's what this appears to be.

24 Q And the data here is presented in megawatt

25 hours, is that correct?
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A Yes.

Q At the time of this response, which was May
27th, 2025, the company did not have data for indicating
the summer demand for 2025, so it provided summer demand
data for 2024, is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Does this response show that the July 2024
peak demand was forecasted to be 25,359 and the actual
demand was 25,241, indicating an over-forecast of summer
demands of 118 megawatts?

A It's a difference of 118 megawatts.

Q Do you happen to have with you today the
actual summer demand for FPLE and the Northwest Florida
divisions?

A I don't think I do, unless you can point me to

somewhere in my testimony.

Q No. That was the question, and your answer 1is
no.
If T can have one minute?
Thank you very much. Those are all our
questions.

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Thank you.
Commissioners, any questions?
Commissioner Passidomo Smith.

COMMISSIONER PASSIDOMO SMITH: I jumped in
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front of you. Just a quick question, Mr. Chair.

I am kind of following up on Mr. Wright's
questions about those customer protections that are
kind of summarized on page 27 of your testimony.

If any of those parameters were modified, would
these customer protections still exist?

THE WITNESS: Were they modified in rebuttal?

COMMISSIONER PASSIDOMO SMITH: If they were to
be modified, would they still exist? Would the
cust —-- if any of it were to be modified, would any
of those customer protections still exist?

THE WITNESS: I think you have to look at it
as a whole, right, that a lot of these actually are
still in effect today. The only things that really
changed in rebuttal was changing the take-or-pay to
70 percent from 90 percent.

In looking -- you have to take this as a whole
that it's making sure that we can serve the
customer's load, that our load ramp matches what
the customer is requesting. We may not have the
generation to serve the customer at the rate that
they want to be served. So we have to be sure that
we can build our generation and whatever we need to
serve the customer reliably and still maintain

whatever reliability that we need for the general
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1 body.

2 There is two-year exit requirement notice.

3 100 percent of the incremental generation charge is
4 paid by the customer regardless of whether they

5 terminate their contract or not. Two-year exit

6 provision as well, where the customer still has to
7 pay their bill for two years, and that gives us

8 enough time to try to recontract the load if

9 necessary. But the customer is still paying

10 100 percent of that incremental generation charge
11 even 1f they choose to terminate their contract.

12 There is exit fees, right, as well, of making
13 sure that if they can't pay, we have got enough

14 collateral as well to serve them.

15 So does that answer your question?

16 COMMISSIONER PASSIDOMO SMITH: It does. Thank
17 you.

18 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Commissioner Clark.

19 COMMISSIONER CLARK: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
20 Ms. Cohen, I have two gquestions, 1f you are

21 the right person to answer them.

22 Going back to the minimum monthly bill that is
23 proposed in the rate, if I remember right, your MDS
24 number for the system is around $32, I think is the
25 2025 number for your minimum system, 1s that
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1 correct?

2 THE WITNESS: So it's actually about $70 in

3 fixed costs is what it costs to serve a residential

4 customer, so we are charging 25 today. We are

5 asking to increase that to 30. And again, it's not

6 incremental revenue. All it does is reduce the

7 amount that you recover from your remaining

8 customers in the class.

9 COMMISSIONER CLARK: And is that in addition
10 to the $9 a month charge, which is -- what do you
11 call it?

12 THE WITNESS: It's a base charge, but it's

13 not -- it is not in addition to. It's part of. So
14 every customer pays their customer charge, and then
15 if they don't have enough usage to get them to $25,
lo they would pay that incremental amount.

17 COMMISSIONER CLARK: So you are spreading the
18 fixed costs and recovering it through a wvariable

19 recovery mechanism being energy, 1s that correct?
20 THE WITNESS: Yes.

21 COMMISSIONER CLARK: So would it make more

22 sense to actually fix the base charge to something
23 much closer to the correct amount, would you not

24 then be able to actually lower the kilowatt hour

25 cost?
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1 THE WITNESS: If we -- 1s your question if

2 weigh were to change the kilowatt hour amount?

3 COMMISSIONER CLARK: Raise the facilities

4 charge to $40, which is halfway to your actual

5 fixed cost number, would you not be able to lower
6 the kilowatt hour cost?

7 THE WITNESS: You absolutely could do it under
8 your math, even more customers -- you would

9 definitely see more customer having -- their bills
10 would increase as well, low use customers would

11 have a higher bill in your scenario.

12 COMMISSIONER CLARK: But when you say lower
13 use customers, that would be probably lower than
14 the system average, is that correct?

15 THE WITNESS: Yes.

16 COMMISSIONER CLARK: Okay. So if they are

17 above the system average, they would actually have
18 a reduction in the kilowatt hour cost?

19 THE WITNESS: That's correct. They would.
20 COMMISSIONER CLARK: And my second question
21 is, as part of the rate structure under this
22 four-year rate plan, do you still intend to use
23 inclining block rates?
24 THE WITNESS: We do. We have evaluated a
25 number of rate designs. We are always evaluating
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rate designs as a part of normal course of
business.

We do have a fixed rate program, actually
Legacy Gulf had a fixed rate program, where
customers can pay one amount for the whole month.
And in the '21 rate case, we asked permission, and
received authorization, to extend that program to
Legacy FPL customers. So we do have customers that
are on a fixed rate today.

But, yes, we are intending to maintain the
inclining block. As I mentioned earlier, at least
55 percent of our customers use less than 1,000
kilowatt hours. And in the shoulder months -- in
the shoulder months of November to March, our
average usage 1s actually less than 1,000. So it
does give me some information that 1,000 is still
the right number today.

COMMISSIONER CLARK: Wouldn't that, though,
kind of balance out the customers' bills actually
on a monthly basis through the end of the year if
you actually made that change?

THE WITNESS: Would their bill balance out?

It would. I do think it would cause an increase to
lower use customers at different parts of the year.

COMMISSIONER CLARK: Yes. Okay.
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Can you support the inclining block rate
theory with any financial data that shows where
that is actually aligning cost causers with the
actual recovery?

THE WITNESS: We do capture a lot of data on
the number of customers and the amount of usage
over and under 1,000 kilowatt hours. And so as I
mentioned before, we do continue to evaluate
whether or not that is -- that's the right number.
But as I sit today, I do think that it's the right
block today.

COMMISSIONER CLARK: But dcoes that line up
with, as Mr. Marshall said, the philosophy of cost
causation?

THE WITNESS: I think that it does. If we
were to change it, we would probably be pushing
more costs to lower use customers. However --

COMMISSIONER CLARK: But that's irrelevant of
actual cost causers, not —-- their income i1s not —--
or their usage isn't --

THE WITNESS: Fair -- no, that's fair. And so
if its costs $70 to serve a lower -- to serve any
customer today, you could almost say, then, that
one group could be subsidizing the other today.

COMMISSIONER CLARK: Okay. Thank you.
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1 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Anything further,

2 Commissioners?

3 Commissioner Fay, you are recognized.

4 COMMISSIONER FAY: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

5 Just one quick question. You were asked about
6 this mean absolute percentage fair component. Just
7 so I can understand, 1i1s that something that is a --
8 it's a diagnostic component of -- that you use on

9 historical data to apply to your forecasting, or is
10 it something you take that number and then push it
11 forward for your, like, more of like a calibration
12 or, like, a forward-looking calculation?

13 THE WITNESS: You -- the word you used,

14 diagnostic, is a great word in this, in that there
15 are a number of different statistical analysis that
16 we to do evaluate the validity of our forecast.

17 They are actually all in TCC-4, in what we call

18 MAIP is one of them. There is a number of other

19 ones as well.

20 So when we run a forecast, we look at how all
21 those variables stand up, and we look at all the

22 numbers and what they should be. If you are -- the
23 MAIP statistic should be something close to zero.
24 And that says that your errors are -- that you are
25 accurate, right.
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1 So we look at all those together, and that's

2 how we determine whether things that we went

3 through, like cooling degree hours, heating degree
4 hours, whether that variable makes sense in the

5 model. And so if it doesn't maybe sense, it may

6 have a higher MAIP value, but there is other

7 statistics we look at as well. So you have to look
8 at it all holistically to make sure the variables

9 that we are using, they are logical, they make

10 sense, but they are also statistically reasonable
11 in the model.

12 COMMISSIONER FAY: Okay. And so then if you
13 took historical data that, by definition, would say
14 was above -- or I guess it doesn't matter, above or
15 below, you were asked a lot of guestions about how
16 that impacts the data, just sort of oversimplifying
17 for me, I guess your testimony is that based on

18 that data, there are adjustments that are applied
19 to the forecasting data?
20 THE WITNESS: Based on the forecast -- based
21 on the model statistics, it tells us that it has a
22 very low MAIP, and it means that what we have been
23 doing is statistically sound and reasonable.
24 COMMISSIONER FAY: Okay. Gotcha. So if it
25 was the other direction, it would be the same
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concept?

THE WITNESS: Yes.

COMMISSIONER FAY: Okay. Gotcha. Thank you.

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Great. Thank vyou.

Back to FPL for redirect.

MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: Thank you, Chairman.

We have no redirect. We would ask that CEL
Exhibits 138 through 143, 328 through 331 be moved
into the record. We would also ask that Exhibit
131, which was initially sponsored by Mr. Bores in
his direct testimony, and cosponsored by Ms.
Fuentes, Mr. Oliver and Ms. Laney, be moved into
the record. And with that ask that the witness
excused.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. Assuming no
objection. Then so moved.

(Whereupon, Exhibit Nos. 131, 138-143 &
31 were received into evidence.)

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: And certainly excuse the
witness. Thank you, Ms. Cohen.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

(Witness excused.)

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Anything else that needs to
be moved in the record, OPC?

MR. PONCE: Yes. OPC would offer exhibits on
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1 the CEL 718 -- I will start again. OPC would offer
2 into evidence CEL Exhibit Nos. 718, 723, 748 and
3 765.

4 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. Seeing -- any

5 objections to those? All right, seeing no

6 objections, so moved. Thank you.

7 (Whereupon, Exhibit Nos. 718, 723, 748 & 765
8 were received 1nto evidence.)

9 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: FEL?

10 MR. MARSHALL: Move into the record CEL

11 Exhibits 882, 968, 1031, 1014 through 1017, 1019,
12 1109 through 1112, 1153 and 1502.

13 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Any objections to those?
14 Seeing no objections, so moved.

15 (Whereupon, Exhibit Nos. 882, 968, 1031,

16 1014-1017, 101%, 1109, 1112, 1153 & 1502 were received

17 into evidence.)

18 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Anything else that needs to
19 be moved into the record? Excellent.

20 All right. So let's transition a little bit,
21 and I believe that's all your witnesses, FPL,

22 correct?

23 MR. CHRISTOPHER WRIGHT: I believe we have

24 rebuttal witnesses after the other parties'’

25 witnesses?
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1 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. So let's -- awesome,
2 thank you. So let's move to OPC's witness.

3 OPC, are you ready to call your first witness?
4 MR. PONCE: Yes, we are. OPC would call to

5 the stand OPC witness Roger D. Colton.

6 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Mr. Colton, when you find

7 your way to the witness area, please feel free to

8 get settled and raise your right hand. Smart man

9 to get your water set up first because this thing
10 goes real quick.

11 Whereupon,

12 ROGER D. COLTON

13 was called as a witness, having been first duly sworn to
14 speak the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

15 truth, was examined and testified as follows:

16 THE WITNESS: Yes.

17 CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: Excellent. Great. Thank
18 you very much.

19 OPC, I will turn him over to you once you guys
20 are ready.

21 EXAMINATION

22 BY MR. PONCE:

23 Q Good afternoon, Mr. Colton. Are you --
24 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Your microphone might be
25 off.
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1 THE WITNESS: Good afternoon.

2 BY MR. PONCE:

3 Q You were just sworn in, right?
4 A I was.
5 Q If you could please state your name and spell

6 your last name for the record?

7 A My name is. Roger, R-0-G-E-R, D, as 1in dog,
38 Colton, C-0-L-T-0-N.

9 Q And did you cause to be filed in this case
10 expert testimony on June 9, 20257

11 A I did.

12 Q Do you have any corrections to your prefiled

13 testimony?

14 A I do. I have two corrections if I may?
15 Q Go ahead, please.
16 A The first correction is at page 33, line --

17 lines 14 and 15. On line 14, the word three should be
18 deleted and the word four should be inserted in lieu

19 thereof.

20 On line 15, before the word Columbia, the word
21 Bradford, comma, should be inserted.

22 And then secondly, on page 53, line 17, the

23 word greater should be deleted, and the words less than
24 should be inserted in lieu thereof.

25 And then on line 18, the word above should be
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1 deleted and the word below should be inserted in lieu

2 thereof.

3 That's it.

4 Q Corrections notwithstanding, if I were to ask
5 you the same questions today as are contained in your

6 prefiled testimony, would your answers be the same?

7 A With those corrections, yes.

8 MR. PONCE: Okay. Mr. Chair, I would ask that
9 Mr. Colton's testimony be inserted into the record
10 as though read.

11 CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: So moved.

12 (Whereupon, prefiled direct testimony of Roger

13 D. Colton was inserted.)
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25
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BY MR. PONCE:

Q Mr. Colton, did your prefiled testimony in
this docket also contain five exhibits labeled RDC-1
through RDC-57?

A It does.

MR. PONCE: Just for the record, I believe

those exhibits are CEL Exhibits 144 through 148.

BY MR. PONCE:

Q Do you have any he corrections to your
exhibits?

A I do not.

Q Have you prepared a summary of your testimony?

A I have.

Q If you could please share it with us?

A Yes.

My direct testimony reviews the impact of
Florida Power & Light rates on the bill affordability to
low and moderate income households. More specifically,
amongst other things, my testimony, number one, examines
the history of FPL rate increases relative to changes in
incomes in the FPL service territory. Number two,
examines the affordability impacts of existing and
proposed FPL rates on low-income households. Number
three, examines the ability to pay of moderate income

customers in the FPL service territory. Number four,
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1 examines the impacts that rate unaffordability has on

2 the ability of FPL to collect its bills. And number

3 five, reviews the actions that FPL reports taking to

4 address unaffordability relative to the needs in its

5 service territory.

6 My testimony first examines the movement in

7 FPL prices relative to the movement in incomes for FPL

8 customers. My testimony shows that of the 20 peninsular
9 FPL counties, in only five instances did the growth in
10 first quintile income exceed the growth in FPL rates,

11 with one other county showing a growth rate in first

12 guintile income nearly equal to the FPL price index.

13 What that means is that in 15 of FPL's 20

14 peninsular counties for which data is available, FPL

15 customers in the bottom guintile were worse off in 2023
16 than they were in 2016. The mismatch between the growth
17 in Q1 incomes, first gquintile incomes, and the growth in
18 FPL prices means that FPL bills are taking up a higher
19 and higher proportion of total household income.
20 My testimony next finds that the
21 unaffordability of FPL bills is now beginning to reach
22 well into more moderate incomes. I examine the ability
23 to pay of more moderate income households using the
24 ALICE threshold -- ALICE is A-L-I-C-E. ALICE is the

25 acronym used to describe Asset Limited, Income
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1 Constrained, Employed households with incomes above the

2 federal poverty level but below the cost of basics

3 included in the household survive the ALICE household

4 survival budget. The number of households at these

5 income levels is substantial. FPL's service territory

6 does not present the situation where households with

7 lower incomes have higher burdens, but few of those

8 households exist.

9 It is clear from the data I examine that while
10 low-income households would bear a particular harm from
11 high FPL burdens, the unaffordability of FPL burdens is
12 not the exclusive province of low-income households.

13 My testimony next explains the impact of

14 unaffordability and the inability to pay on the

15 collectability of FPL bills. When FPL renders bills

16 that its customers simply cannot afford to pay, that

17 unaffordability not only has an impact on the customers
18 receiving the unaffordable bills, it also has an impact
19 on all other customers as well.

20 As bills become less and less affordable, FPL
21 faces the situation where it is forced to devote an

22 increasing amount of resources to the process of

23 collection with a decreasing effectiveness arising from
24 those credit and collection efforts. Due to increasing

25 unaffordability, in other words, FPL spends more and
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more and receives less as a result.

The unaffordability of FPL rates adversely
affects not only the customers receiving unaffordable
bills, but also other customers as well. Not only does
rendering unaffordable bills result in less revenue
collected by FPL, but it results in higher levels of
expenses as well. These higher expenses and lower
revenues result in higher rates to be paid by all other
customers, all other ratepayers. The level of arrears
is one example of how unaffordable bills contribute to
higher expenses to be charged to all other ratepayers.

The working capital needed by FPL is driven by
two factors. Number one, the level of arrears, and,
number two, the age of arrears. Higher levels of
arrears increases both of those factors. Moreover,
since working capital is a capital expenditure, it will
have an equity return associated with it. Given that
equity return, there will also be a tax impact
associated with it.

The rate of increased working capital, in
other words, 1is greater -- the rate impact of increased
working capital, in other words, 1is greater than the
dollar impact of the working capital itself.

While many people associate only bad debt and

collection expenses with increased unaffordability, in
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fact, the level of those two expenses are but small
portions of the costs imposed by unaffordability.
Working capital is probably the most substantial element
of unaffordability.

FPL's lack of knowledge about the collection
impacts of the unaffordability, which I document
throughout my testimony, 1is important to a rate case,
because that unaffordability and the resulting payment
difficulties have a direct impact on increasing costs
that FPL then seeks to pass through to all ratepayers.

I reported in my testimony that FPL was asked
whether it agreed or disagreed with each of the
following statements:

Reducing the dollar level of arrears to a
customer will, all else equal, have the effect of
reducing the working capital needed by the utility.

Reducing the time in days or months that an
arrearage remains outstanding will, all else equal, have
the effect of reducing the working capital needed by a
utility.

C, working capital is a cost component that
has an equity return associated with it.

D, to the extent that working capital has an
equity return associated with it, it will also have a

tax component associated with it.
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2 greater risk of loss due to uncollectibles than a lower

3 dollar level of arrearages.

5 off s

6 else
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E, a higher dollar level of arrears poses a

F, reducing the number of customers who are
ystem due to disconnection of service will, all
equal, reduce loss sales to a utility.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Mr. Colton, I don't mean to
interrupt your opening statement, but are we
getting close to an end? We are a little bit over

time. The red light that's blinking in front of

you.
THE WITNESS: I am almost complete, is that
what you -- I am sorry?
CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: If we can bring it in for a
landing.

THE WITNESS: Okay. The company agreed with
each of those statements.

Ultimately, my testimony concludes that
imposing expenses on ratepayers that exacerbate the
unaffordability of FPL rates generates additional
cost to ratepayers above and beyond expenses being
challenged. Reducing FPL's requested rate increase
as recommended by OPC witnesses throughout this
proceeding will have positive rate impacts for all

FPL customers, even beyond the specific adjustments
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being proposed by those witnesses.

I am finished.

CHAIRMAN LA

THE WITNESS:

MR. PONCE:
tenders Mr.

CHAIRMAN LA

MR. MARSHALL:

witness, Mr.
CHAIRMAN LA
MR.

CHAIRMAN LA

MR. KEVIN COX:

CHAIRMAN LA
MS. EATON:
CHAIRMAN LA
MR. BREW:
CHAIRMAN LA

MR. MOYLE:

CHAIRMAN LA

MR. BURNETT:

CHAIRMAN LA
MR.
CHAIRMAN LA

any questions of

Colton for cross-examination.

Chairman.

SCHEF WRIGHT:

No questions.

STILLER:

ROSA: Great. Thank you.
Thank vyou.
Thank you. At this time, OPC

ROSA: Okay. FEL?

No cross—-examination for this

ROSA: FAIR?

No questions.

ROSA: FETIA?
No cross.
ROSA: Walmart?

No cross.

ROSA: FRF?

ROSA: FIPUG?
No questions.
ROSA: FPL?

No questions.
ROSA: Staff?
No questions.
do we have

ROSA: Commissioners,

Mr. Colton?
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1 All right. Seeing none, back to you, OPC.

2 MR. PONCE: In that case, OPC asks that Mr.

3 Colton's previously identified exhibits, Nos. 144

4 through 148, please be entered into the record.

5 CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: Okay. Seeing no

6 objections, so moved.

7 (Whereupon, Exhibit 144-248 were received into

8 evidence.)

9 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Anything else that needs to
10 be moved into the record? It doesn't sound like
11 it. Okay. Excellent.
12 Mr. Colton, thank you very much for your
13 testimony.
14 THE WITNESS: Thank you, Your Honor.
15 (Witness excused.)
16 CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: OPC, you may call your next
17 witness.
18 MR. PONCE: OPC will call Timothy Devlin.
19 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Mr. Devlin, do you mind
20 coming to the microphone over here to the right
21 that's situated?
22 MS. CHRISTENSEN: No.
23 THE WITNESS: ©Oh, I am sorry.
24 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: One more seat. Sorry about
25 that.
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1 Do you mind raising your right hand when you

2 are ready?

3 Whereupon,

4 TIMOTHY J. DEVLIN

5 was called as a witness, having been first duly sworn to
) speak the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the

7 truth, was examined and testified as follows:

8 THE WITNESS: I do.

9 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Excellent. Great. Thank
10 you. Don't forget to turn your microphone on.

11 When you guys are ready, OPC, I will turn it
12 over to you.

13 EXAMINATION

14 BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:

15 Q Good afternoon, Mr. Devlin. Can you please
lo state your name and business address for the record?
17 A My maple is Timothy J. Devlin, D-E-V, as in
18 victor, L-I-N. My address 1is 21 Egquine Drive,

19 Crawfordville, Florida.

20 Q And did you cause to be prefiled direct

21 testimony in this docket on June 9th, 20252

22 A Yes, I did.

23 Q Do you have any corrections to that testimony
24 as we sit here?

25 A No, I do not.
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1 Q Okay. And did you -- and if I were to ask you
2 the same questions contained in your prefiled

3 testimonies, would your answers be the same today?

4 A Yes, they would.

5 MS. CHRISTENSEN: Mr. Chair, I would ask that
6 Mr. Devlin's testimony be entered into the record
7 as though read.

8 CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: So moved.

9 (Whereupon, prefiled direct testimony of

10 Timothy J. Devlin was inserted.)
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25
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BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:
Q Mr. Devlin, did you cause to be prefiled

exhibits to your testimony?

A Yes, I did.

Q And those exhibits numbers are DJL-1 through
DJL --

A DJD I think.

Q Oh, I'm sorry, DJD-5?

A Yes.

Q Do you have any corrections to any of your
exhibits?

A Yes, I do. I need to make some changes to

Exhibit No. 4.

Q And can you please state what those
corrections are?

A Yes. Looking at Exhibit No. 4 -- and I have
new copies here for the court reporter if the Chair
wishes. But the corrections to Exhibit 4, the top box,
I make corrections to the years 2022, I have changed the
number from 381 million to 337 million. And then over
on the effective rates, i1t goes from 4.3 percent to 3.6
percent.

In 2024, the number changed from 273 million
to 265 million. And then the rate -- the effect on

rates is 2.6 percent as opposed to 2.7.
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And in 2025, the number changed from 484
million to 418 million, and the effect on rates is 4.3
percent. The total revenue requirement above the
midpoint is now 1.42 billion, versus what I had in the
exhibit originally at 1.54 billion, and the effect on
rates is 3.7 percent.
CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Thank you, and we have got
the changes.
THE WITNESS: Okay.
CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Thank you.
BY MS. CHRISTENSEN:
Q Does that conclude all of the corrections that

you had to your exhibits today?

A Yes.

Q Mr. Devlin, did you prepare a summary of your
testimony?

A Yes, I did.

Q I would ask that you give your summary?

A Okay. Good afternoon, Commissioners. Thank

you for the opportunity to testify in this very

important case. I am testifying on behalf of the Office
of Public Counsel. My testimony involves the evaluation
of FPL's proposed tax adjustment mechanism, better known
as TAM. I believe that TAM would not be consistent with

sound regulatory practice, nor is it in the public
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1 interest, therefore, it should be rejected in its

2 entirety. I base my testimony on two points.

3 First, to the extent that TAM is analogous to
4 the previously used reserve surplus adjustment

5 mechanism, or RSAM, it is not needed for FPL to earn a

6 reasonable ROE and, therefore, not needed to avoid a

7 rate case in two years. FPL earned revenue in excess of
8 $1.4 billion over its midpoint during the past four

9 years 1in which RSAM was employed. FPL used, at this

10 point, about $1.1 billion of RSAM. Therefore, FPL would
11 have exceeded its midpoint without using any amounts

12 from RSAM, it would not need another rate case in two

13 years. FPL's choice to use RSAM needlessly costs

14 ratepayers over $1.1 billion, which is reflected in

15 proposed rates in this case and will be reflected in

16 rates in the future.

17 My second point —-- reason for, I believe, TAM
18 should be rejected is FPL's proposal to accelerate the
19 amortization of normal deferred taxes 1s contrary to
20 both past Commission practice and the matching principle
21 of matching tax expense credits to the life of the
22 related assets. I suggest a generic docket be used to
23 study the pros and cons of such an accounting treatment
24 before making any exceptions.

25 Lastly, in the event the Commission approves a
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1 TAM over OPC's objections,

2 modifications to ameliorate the negative effects to the

3 ratepayers.

5 for 2026 and 2027,

6 of the TAM, as touted by FPL, is avoidance of a rate

7 case,

8 years.

10 limited to a reasonable midpoint ROE in 2028 and 2029,
11 and be reflective of the reduced risk associated with

12 the TAM.

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20
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25

And,

First, I recommend that the TAM not be used

yvet we already have rate cases for those two

Thank vyou.

MS. CHRISTENSEN:

cross—-examination.

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Thank you.
FEL?
MR. MARSHALL:

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: FAIR.

MR. SCHEF WRIGHT: No guestions,

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: FEIA?

MR. KEVIN COX: ©No questions.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Walmart?

MS. EATON: No gquestions.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: FRE?

I recommend certain

since the primary purported benefit

second, the TAM amortization should be

I tender Mr. Devlin for

No guestions, Mr.

Chairman.

thank you.
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MR. BREW: No guestions.

CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: FIPUG?

MR. MOYLE: No gquestions.

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: FPL?

MR. BURNETT: No qguestions.

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: Staff?

MR. STILLER: No questions.

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Commissioners, are there
any questions?

Seeing none, back to you, OPC.

MS. CHRISTENSEN: Yes, I would ask that Mr.
Devlin's previously identified Exhibits 149 through
153 be entered into the record.

CHATIRMAN LA ROSA: Seeing no options, seeing
none, so moved.

(Whereupon, Exhibit Nos. 149-153 were received
evidence.)

CHAIRMAN LA ROSA: Any other items that need
to be moved in? Okay. Seeing none.

The witness may be excused. Thank you.

MS. CHRISTENSEN: We ask to be excused.

THE WITNESS: Thank you.

(Witness excused.)

CHATRMAN LA ROSA: While we get resettled,

let's -- just being conscious of time, let's take a
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1 quick -- it is 2:30, yeah, let's take a quick break
2 for our court reporter and then we will jump right
3 back into witness testimony.

4 Thank you. Let's say 10 minutes from now, so
5 10 minutes til 3:00. Thanks.

6 (Brief recess.)

7 (Transcript continues in sequence in Volume
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